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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome to this

          3  hearing of the Public Safety Committee.  Today,

          4  we'll take testimony regarding the NYPD's CompStat

          5  Program, as well as Intro 470 which would require

          6  the NYPD to provide data to the Council about crime

          7  in City parks. CompStat stands for Computerized

          8  Statistics.  It began in 1994 to provide the Police

          9  Commissioner, Chief of Police and other top NYPD

         10  commanders with crime statistics soon after the

         11  crime occurs.  This data is then placed on precinct

         12  maps in order to identify patterns in crime and thus

         13  to deploy resources and personnel.

         14                 Amazingly, prior to CompStat, the top

         15  commanders of the NYPD did not receive data about

         16  crime in the precincts until months later.  Thus,

         17  fostering a reactive, as opposed to proactive,

         18  approach to crime fighting.  CompStat has been

         19  heralded and rightly so as a vehicle for the

         20  dramatic decrease in crime in New York City over the

         21  past ten years.  So successful is CompStat that

         22  other cities around the world use this system to

         23  track and identify crime.  Many other City agencies

         24  now use versions of CompStat to track everything

         25  from City residents who are eligible for City health
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          2  insurance and to conditions in City jails.

          3                 Among CompStat's many attributes,

          4  perhaps it's most important is that it fosters

          5  accountability.  Commanders of precincts are

          6  regularly called into weekly CompStat meetings to

          7  discuss crime trends, to explain what they're doing

          8  to combat crime and to defend choices they've made

          9  about personnel allocation. Being put on the hot

         10  seat is, of course, not relished by the commanders

         11  but knowing that tough questions will be asked by

         12  leading commanders at One Police Plaza, insures that

         13  precinct and borough commanders will take a leading

         14  role in the operation of their precincts.

         15                 An organization like the NYPD cannot

         16  operate effectively without CompStat.  It's vital

         17  that commanders get crime data as soon as possible.

         18  Members of my staff attended a CompStat meeting last

         19  week and were impressed by a number of items.

         20  Particularly, about the level of detail of

         21  discussion.  Not only were precinct and borough

         22  crime trends discussed but particular cases were

         23  questioned and certain case files were pulled to

         24  determine whether proper procedure had been used in

         25  investigating crimes.  It's important we hold this
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          2  hearing because although we read and hear much about

          3  CompStat, I suspect many members of the public, of

          4  the press and of this Committee have only a cursory

          5  understanding of how it works.

          6                 In addition at today's hearing, we'll

          7  be taking testimony of Intro 470 which would require

          8  the NYPD to provide data to the Council about crime

          9  in City parks.  It's our understanding and the NYPD

         10  will let us know whether this is untrue or not, that

         11  when a crime occurs in a park with the exception of

         12  Central Park, which has it's own precinct, it's

         13  listed as occurring at the nearest cross street, not

         14  in the park itself.  This, of course, appears to

         15  make crime tracking in parks more difficult and also

         16  deprives citizens of knowing that a crime took place

         17  within the boundaries of the park itself.  We'll

         18  inquire with the NYPD about how crime is currently

         19  tracked for City parks and whether it's feasible to

         20  track crime for parks separately and provide this

         21  information to the City Council.

         22                 New Yorkers for Parks is also here

         23  today and they've been vocal on this issue.  I'd

         24  like to thank them for being the force behind having

         25  this hearing, as with Council Member Joe Addabbo,
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          2  who sponsored this bill along with myself and sent a

          3  brief statement.  He would like me to read.  The

          4  Mayor is in his district now, unfortunately, he is

          5  going to try to get here but he did send a brief

          6  statement.

          7                 The intent of Intro 470 was never to

          8  place an additional burden on the NYPD or the

          9  Department of Parks but to utilize information

         10  already existing for the benefit and safety of our

         11  residents.  Parks are an integral part of this City

         12  and just as much as the other areas that CompStat

         13  currently analyzes.  I'm hopeful that Intro 470

         14  would have a domino effect for our communities,

         15  namely it would further the relationship between the

         16  NYPD and the DPR which would then improve the

         17  efficient deployment of our police officers which

         18  would then make our parks a safer place.  Intro 470

         19  does all that with, I believe, a zero percent cost

         20  to the City but a hundred percent benefit to the

         21  residents.

         22                 I'm going to jump to -- the

         23  information obtained in legislation would enable the

         24  City to better utilize the 86 City wide park police

         25  and rangers in positioning the NYPD officers in
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          2  parks.  The same information would be helpful to

          3  civic groups, community activists, park advocates

          4  and concerned people throughout the City in finding

          5  ways to make our neighborhood a better place to

          6  live.  I'd like to thank the Public Safety Chair,

          7  myself and the staff for today's hearing.  I'd like

          8  to thank my 41 colleagues including Parks Committee

          9  Chair Helen Foster and all the other park advocates

         10  including New Yorkers for Parks for their support of

         11  Intro 470.  I am proud to be the prime sponsor for

         12  this legislation.  I look forward to working with

         13  the Administration in making 470 a reality for the

         14  safety of all of those who enjoy and use one of our

         15  greatest assets that the City has, it's parks.

         16  Again, that was from Council Member Addabbo.

         17                 Let me briefly introduce some of the

         18  other council members who are here today.  Member of

         19  the Public Safety Committee, Sara Gonzalez.  Jim

         20  Gennaro is Chair of the Environmental Committee.

         21  Obviously, very concerned with our parks.  Council

         22  Member Melinda Katz, Chair of the Land Use

         23  Committee.  Council Member Robert Jackson who is not

         24  a part of this Committee but is so concerned about

         25  crime in parks that he has made time in his busy
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          2  schedule to be here today.  In fact, he represents

          3  Inwood Park where, I believe, Sara Hughes, Sara Fox,

          4  I'm sorry, Sara Fox was recently murdered and that

          5  case is still unsolved and so thank you Mr. Jacks --

          6  Council Member Jackson for being here today.  Eric

          7  Dilan is also here with us today and other council

          8  members will be arriving.

          9                 I'd just like to say that when we do

         10  have a quorum, which we do, we will soon be voting

         11  on another matter.  So for business keeping

         12  purposes, very soon, we'll be voting on the bill we

         13  had a hearing on, the resolution we had a hearing on

         14  last week, Council Member Gennaro, you and I

         15  submitted regarding the state eliminating the DWI

         16  loopholes which lets people like John Werder, who

         17  recently killed Vasean Alleyne to go free, or not to

         18  go free but to suffer the same punishment who stole

         19  a pair socks, to suffer misdemeanor punishment and

         20  so we are calling on Albany to eliminate that

         21  loophole and punish these drunk drivers the way they

         22  deserve to be,  so we'll be voting on that as soon

         23  as we get our ship in order.

         24                 So we'll start with testimony from

         25  the Police Department and we are glad to have with
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          2  us here today Commissioner Garry McCarthy, the

          3  Deputy Commissioner for Operations and First Deputy

          4  Commissioner, Liam Kavanagh from Parks & Recreation.

          5  I'd just like to say, Commissioner McCarthy, was, is

          6  the person in charge down at CompStat, the person

          7  asking the tough questions when the precinct

          8  commanders are sitting in the so called hot seat and

          9  I received numerous reports about the excellent job

         10  that Commissioner McCarthy does from, not only my

         11  staff, but from commanders who do not want to be in

         12  that hot seat.

         13                 They're literally asked, it would be

         14  amazing if the people in this room could get down

         15  there, what happened on this file, why didn't this

         16  detective speak to this person, why did it take so

         17  long for that detective to get to that scene.  These

         18  files are pulled out and they are questioned on

         19  every one.  The DA's office is there to provide

         20  their input.  It's an amazing thing and it's really,

         21  again, part of the reason why we're so successful in

         22  fighting crime in New York City and Commissioner

         23  McCarthy's the one in charge of that so thank you

         24  both for coming down today and the floor is yours.

         25  You may proceed.  Thank you.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Thank

          3  you, Mr. Chairman.  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and

          4  members of the Council. I am Garry McCarthy, Deputy

          5  Commissioner of Operations for the New York City

          6  Police Department.  On behalf of Police Commissioner

          7  Raymond Kelly, I am pleased to be here today to

          8  discuss the CompStat process.

          9            The CompStat process is a dynamic and

         10  effective tool used by the NYPD to carry out our

         11  core mission to prevent crime and improve quality of

         12  life within New York City.  It has helped to make

         13  New York City the safest, largest city in America

         14  and has helped to drive the reduction of crime, not

         15  only in New York State, but for the entire country.

         16  It is a philosophy which has become a model for

         17  policing throughout the country and around the world

         18  and it is based on four key principles; timely and

         19  accurate information, rapid deployment of resources,

         20  effective tactics and relentless follow- up and

         21  assessment.  Although CompStat is commonly

         22  misunderstood as primarily a weekly data collection

         23  and review process, these four principles are

         24  applied everyday throughout the Department.

         25                 Suppressing crime requires a police
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          2  agency to detect crime trends as quickly as possible

          3  and devote the resources needed to address them.

          4  The deployment of resources must be tailored to the

          5  particular conditions present, in as an effective

          6  manner as possible, with constant evaluation to

          7  ensure that the problem is being effectively

          8  addressed.  This process goes on each day, with the

          9  Department staff and executives reviewing a wide

         10  variety of information on a daily basis to determine

         11  what patterns are emerging or where resources may or

         12  may not be working effectively. We gather

         13  information from many sources, including daily

         14  operational reports, computerized complaint and

         15  arrest data, ballistics reports, reports on

         16  specialized initiatives such as Operation Impact,

         17  the 311 system, various crime patterns, quality of

         18  life conditions, community and narcotics complaints,

         19  in order to determine, on a daily basis how

         20  resources should be applied to problems.

         21                 The most visible aspect of the

         22  CompStat process is the weekly CompStat meeting

         23  which serves to increase the flow of information

         24  between the Agency's executives and the commanders

         25  of operational units with particular emphasis on the
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          2  flow of crime and quality of life enforcement

          3  information.  These meetings are an integral part of

          4  a comprehensive, interactive management strategy

          5  which enhances accountability while providing local

          6  commanders with considerable discretion and the

          7  resources necessary to properly manage their

          8  commands.  It also ensures that they remain apprised

          9  of crime and quality of life conditions within their

         10  areas of responsibility and devise strategies to

         11  reduce crime.  The meetings serve as a forum in

         12  which precinct and other operational unit commanders

         13  communicate to the Agency's top executives the

         14  problems they face while also sharing successful

         15  crime reduction tactics with other commanders.  The

         16  process allows top executives to carefully monitor

         17  issues and activities within precincts and

         18  operational units, to evaluate the skill and

         19  effectiveness of middle managers and to properly

         20  allocate the resources necessary to reduce crime and

         21  improve police performance.  Because ranking

         22  decision- makers are present at the meetings and can

         23  immediately commit their resources, the obstacles

         24  and delays which often occur in highly structured

         25  bureaucratic organizations can be minimized.
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          2                 Every week, one patrol borough is

          3  selected to attend the meeting with the Department's

          4  highest executives to discuss as complete a picture

          5  as possible of the crime and quality of life

          6  conditions in it's precincts.  As needed, a CompStat

          7  meeting is convened to address not a patrol borough

          8  but perhaps specialized commands like narcotics or

          9  Major Case or to look closely at various precincts

         10  across the City which may be experiencing crime

         11  spikes demanding further attention.  All relevant

         12  operational commands are included.  For example, if

         13  Patrol Borough Queens North is attending CompStat,

         14  representatives of the Organized Crime Control

         15  Bureau, Detective Bureau, Housing Bureau,

         16  Transportation Bureau and School Safety Division

         17  from the relevant areas will also be there. Support

         18  commands such as the Legal Bureau and the Office of

         19  Technology and Systems Development will also attend.

         20                 Because the Department's commands do

         21  not know until a few days beforehand whether they

         22  will be called upon in a CompStat meeting, their

         23  personnel must always be fully informed and ready to

         24  participate.  Therefore, local commanders and their

         25  staffs are responsible for knowing the crime and
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          2  quality of life conditions in their areas and being

          3  prepared to explain how they are addressing the

          4  problems that arise.  The CompStat process builds on

          5  the detailed knowledge that Precinct Commanders have

          6  to meet the particular needs of their communities

          7  and to direct efforts of the offices that they

          8  manage.  Commanders are significantly empowered by

          9  the NYPD to make decisions and deploy their

         10  resources as needed but they are also held

         11  accountable for the results of their decisions.

         12                 On a weekly basis, operational

         13  commands forward to the Chief of Department's office

         14  a preliminary statistical summary of the week's

         15  crime complaint, arrest and summons activity, as

         16  well as written recapitulation of significant cases,

         17  crime patterns and police activities.  This data is

         18  reflected in the weekly CompStat report, a modified

         19  version of which is posted on the Police

         20  Department's website.  The data is presented on a

         21  week- to- date, prior 28 days and year- to- date

         22  basis, with comparisons to previous years' activity.

         23                 The CompStat Report and weekly

         24  meetings focus not only on the seven major felony

         25  crimes reported to the FBI; specifically murder,

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  rape, robbery, felony assault, burglary, grand

          3  larceny and grand larceny of a motor vehicle, but

          4  also on a wide range of data which the Department

          5  uses to assess conditions and performance.  Shooting

          6  incidents and victims, gun arrests, summons

          7  activity, arrest activity, stop and frisk activity,

          8  overtime, Department vehicle accidents, absentee

          9  rates and the number of civilian complaints are some

         10  examples.  In all, more than 700 performance

         11  measures are examined in preparation for a CompStat

         12  meeting.  Crime complaint data and arrest data is

         13  displayed through computerized "pin mapping" which

         14  displays crime, arrests and quality of life data in

         15  a host of visual formats including comparative

         16  charts, graphs and tables.  Through the use of our

         17  technology, for example, combinations of crime

         18  and/or arrest locations, crime "hot spots" and other

         19  relative information can be created for police

         20  personnel to be used to identify and explore trends

         21  and patterns as well as solutions for crime and

         22  quality of life problems.

         23                 During CompStat meetings, we

         24  frequently ask commanders probing questions about

         25  crime and arrest activity, as well as about specific
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          2  cases and initiatives they have undertaken to reduce

          3  crime and enforce quality of life offenses.

          4  Commanders are expected to demonstrate a detailed

          5  knowledge of the crime and quality of life problems

          6  existing within their commands and to develop

          7  innovative and flexible strategies and tactics to

          8  address them.

          9                 Although the CompStat process has

         10  revolutionized policing in New York City and

         11  throughout the world, it is not static.  We continue

         12  to adjust, refine and enhance the process to respond

         13  swiftly and effectively for changing demands which

         14  we encounter.  For example, you may have heard about

         15  a new initiative, the "Real Time Crime Center",

         16  which will improve even further our ability to

         17  instantly react to emerging crime problems.  Just as

         18  the CompStat process introduced a new way of

         19  collecting preliminary crime data in a much more

         20  current and therefore more useful form, so will the

         21  Real Time Crime Center improve data collection and

         22  sharing, to provide almost instant information flow

         23  throughout the Department.  All data collected

         24  throughout the NYPD will be combined and centralized

         25  through the Real Time Crime Center on an immediate
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          2  basis so that a detective squad in the Bronx may

          3  know instantly if a suspect they seek has been

          4  identified in Staten Island.  The Center is under

          5  development now and is expected to become

          6  operational in March when we anticipate that it will

          7  provide us with an even greater capacity to spot

          8  trends and use information we have to better protect

          9  the people of our City.

         10                 I understand that you have expressed

         11  particular concern about crime in parks and are

         12  considering a bill which would require the

         13  Department to create a new report of the number of

         14  crimes, arrests and summonses issued within City-

         15  owned parks.  Our computer databases are not

         16  designed to provide that information. The location

         17  information contained in the system is based on

         18  addresses or street intersections.  However, crimes

         19  in parks are statistically reflected in the precinct

         20  crime data and patrol commanders keep close watch on

         21  where crime is occurring including whether the crime

         22  is in a park or on the surrounding streets. Based on

         23  the knowledge of our local Precinct Commanders,

         24  crime in City parks occurs at an extremely low level

         25  City- wide.  We respectfully suggest that an
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          2  additional reporting requirement regarding City

          3  parks is not necessary and should not be added to

          4  the already voluminous reporting requirements

          5  mandated by Administrative Code Section 14- 150.

          6                 I hope that this overview of the

          7  CompStat process has demonstrated some aspects of

          8  how the NYPD implements it's key principles of

          9  timely and accurate information, rapid deployment,

         10  effective tactics and relentless follow- up and

         11  assessment.  We appreciate the Council's attention

         12  to the process and I will be pleased to answer any

         13  questions which you may have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         15  Commissioner Kavanagh, before you go, I just need to

         16  do a little housekeeping. First let me welcome,

         17  Council Member Reed who has joined us and Council

         18  Member Foster, Helen Foster is Chair of our Parks

         19  Committee and so we especially like to have her here

         20  today.  She is a member of the Public Safety

         21  Committee also but it should be noted that she is

         22  supposed to be at the Bronx Borough President State

         23  of the County Address right now but she was so

         24  dedicated to this issue and, in fact, realized the

         25  work that went into having this hearing today, did
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          2  not want us to have to adjourn this or move this and

          3  has foregone the Borough President's speech just to

          4  be here with us today so we thank her for that.

          5                 As I said before, we will be voting

          6  on Resolution 338a which was introduced by myself

          7  and Jim Gennaro.  We had a recent hearing -- Council

          8  Member Gentile, thank you for joining us also -- we

          9  had a recent hearing and I think all of you were

         10  there, regarding toughening up the State's drunk

         11  driving laws and this was predicated by the death of

         12  little VaSean Alleyne and the serious injuries to

         13  his friend Angel caused by a drunk driver, John

         14  Wirta, who is only charged right now with a

         15  misdemeanor.  I'm going to forego my opening

         16  statement.

         17                 As I said, many of you heard the

         18  testimony of VaSean's mother, that these two little

         19  boys were struck and her son was killed on the way

         20  to a sleep over party and in VaSean's pocket was a

         21  note that he had intended to give the next day to a

         22  girl who he had a crush on saying "do you like me?

         23  Check yes or no."  It's heartbreaking and he will

         24  never get the answer to that question and she'll

         25  never get that note but, and John Wirta will be
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          2  punished as, on the same level as someone who steals

          3  a pair of socks because it's just an "a" misdemeanor

          4  and we are calling on Albany to get their act

          5  together and fix it.

          6                 There are competing bills up there

          7  now.  Sit down, work it out, eliminate the

          8  requirement for additional negligence, which is now

          9  the requirement.  Drunk driving is enough.  If you

         10  get behind the wheel drunk and kill someone, that

         11  should be a felony and that's what we're calling on

         12  Albany to do so let me -- Council Member Gennaro,

         13  would you like to say a few words on this?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Yes, thank

         15  you, Mr. Chairman and I wish to thank you for your

         16  leadership on this and echo all of your remarks.  I

         17  also would call people's attention to the excellent

         18  op- ed that you had in Newsday a couple of days ago

         19  where you outlined the different competing bills

         20  that are in the Legislature and point out quite

         21  strongly that one of those bills is deficient and it

         22  is important that we do exactly what you said that

         23  we need to do and to put the obligation on the part

         24  of the defendant to show that the drunkenness did

         25  not make the difference and to, just by virtue of
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          2  getting behind the wheel when you are drunk, that

          3  creates the additional negligence needed to press

          4  this case as a felony.

          5                 I would like to give a report from

          6  the homefront. I just saw Angel, the boy who

          7  survived, two nights ago.  He has a shunt that

          8  extends from his brain, through his neck into his

          9  stomach, should he build up any fluid on his brain,

         10  he had to have that put in him.  This is what we're

         11  dealing with when we have drunk drivers like John

         12  Wirta so on behalf of the families who are my

         13  constituents, I thank you, Mr. Chairman, all of the

         14  sponsors of this and certainly it is our hope that

         15  our voice will be heard in Albany and we'll get the

         16  bill that we need for the people of the State of New

         17  York.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you and

         19  I'd like to call the vote on this.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Resolution 338- a.

         21  Council Member Vallone.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I vote aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Katz.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gonzalez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of eight in

         14  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         15  abstentions, the item is adopted.  Council members,

         16  please sign the Committee report?  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you all.

         18  I'm sorry, Commissioner Kavanagh, for the

         19  interruption.  You may proceed.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Good

         21  afternoon, Chairman Vallone, members of the Public

         22  Safety Committee and I, at the risk of slighting

         23  someone, I have to acknowledge Council Member Foster

         24  who is Chair of the Parks Committee.  I am Liam

         25  Kavanagh. I'm Deputy Commissioner of Parks and
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          2  Recreation.  I'm here on behalf of Parks

          3  Commissioner Adrian Benepe.

          4                 Thanks to the work of the New York

          5  Police Department, New York City is safer than it

          6  has been in years and just as the City as a whole

          7  gotten safer, so has it's parks.  The increase is

          8  park safety is primarily due to the hard work and

          9  innovative management strategies such as CompStat,

         10  which we heard about just a few minutes ago,

         11  employed by the Police Department and you can see

         12  the results of the Police Department's strategies by

         13  visiting parks and neighborhoods all over the City

         14  of New York.

         15                 These accomplishments and the level

         16  of safety that we enjoy today have not created a

         17  sense of complacency within the Parks Department or

         18  the Police Department.  Both remain committed to

         19  making parks and public spaces even safer.  As we

         20  all know, crime takes on a special meaning when it

         21  affects you, your family or your friends directly

         22  and that's why crime in parks resonates so strongly.

         23    New Yorkers have a deep attachment to their parks

         24  and playgrounds and a crime committed in their park

         25  becomes personal, almost as if it occurred in their
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          2  own home, building or block.

          3                 As I said, park safety remains one

          4  the agencies of Commissioner Benepe's top priorities

          5  and we approach it in a number of different ways.

          6  Parks are safer because we've increased

          7  communication with the NYPD.  In the statement you

          8  read from Council Member Addabbo, he described one

          9  of his goals as furthering cooperation between the

         10  police and the Parks Department and I have to say

         11  that based on my 23 years in the Parks Department,

         12  the level of cooperation between parks and police

         13  has never been as great as it is today, at all

         14  levels, the executive level, the borough level, the

         15  district level where our managers and Precinct

         16  Commanders regularly meet and tour parks and discuss

         17  the issues that arise in our parks and around our

         18  parks.  Many of our managers and administrators have

         19  regular relationships and regular meetings with

         20  their counterparts in the Police Department and we

         21  know for a fact that many of our parks are patrolled

         22  on a daily basis by the local precincts.

         23                 In addition to working with the

         24  Police Department on general park safety issues, we

         25  have an extensive dealings with them on seasonal
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          2  issues.  Special events, which involve parks

          3  throughout the City, are planned in great detail at

          4  all levels with the Police Department and our

          5  seasonal operations would not be possible without

          6  the support of the Police Department.  There are sub

          7  precincts in beaches and pools throughout the City

          8  and they are a important component of our operation

          9  each year.

         10                 Parks are also safer because we

         11  foster a positive atmosphere in our parks through

         12  the presence of park employees at all levels.  At

         13  the height of the season, there are over 500 park

         14  enforcement officers and urban park rangers.  Many

         15  of them are seasonal employees and some of them are

         16  members of the job training program who have

         17  enrolled in our security program as a means of

         18  moving themselves towards a job in the private

         19  sector.  The park enforcement program and our own

         20  regular maintenance staff are part of the eyes and

         21  ears of the Parks Department and they understand it

         22  is part of their responsibility to be vigilant about

         23  situations in parks and playgrounds that might lead

         24  to crime or unsafe conditions.

         25                 Parks are also safer because of an
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          2  unprecedented capitol investment in parks and much

          3  of it is due to the participation of the Council.

          4  Over $1.5 billion have been invested in parks over

          5  the last ten years.  Not only does that make parks

          6  more attractive to the public by providing them with

          7  new facilities, we also take that opportunity to

          8  redesign our parks with safety in mind.  We create

          9  sight- lines.  We create better access.  We want our

         10  parks to be visible and we want our parks to be

         11  patrolled.

         12                 Parks are also safer, sorry, thanks

         13  to the largest network of parks supporters in the

         14  country.  As the old saw goes, a good use dries out

         15  bad and currently there are over 55,000 people

         16  enrolled in our Partnerships for Parks Program and

         17  51 percent of the parks in the City enjoy the

         18  support of a Friends group.  The commitment and

         19  presence of community groups, civic organizations

         20  and individual park patrons help make parks safer.

         21                 As I said, the historic reduction in

         22  crime over the last ten years have made New York a

         23  safer place to live and work and parks safer places

         24  to play, exercise and visit and we certainly

         25  appreciate and understand the Council's commitment
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          2  to making parks safer.

          3                 On the question of requiring a

          4  separate report on parks, we think it may not be the

          5  best use of the resources we have available to us.

          6  CompStat and the data collection processes and

          7  technology that support it, is designed to track and

          8  analyze all crime including park crime and as we all

          9  know, this program has done a superb job.  It was

         10  not designed to map parks, however. Accurately

         11  mapping specific locations in parks is a technical

         12  administrative challenge.  We have over 28,000 acres

         13  of park land. 1,835 park properties.  They have

         14  irregular boundaries.  They don't have the kind of

         15  land marks that you usually do, that you usually

         16  need to accurately map a specific location.  For

         17  example, few of the more than 1,200 structures in

         18  parks have addresses which makes it difficult to

         19  quickly direct police, fire or ambulances to

         20  emergency situations.

         21                 We are right now working with the

         22  Borough Presidents, the Departments of City Planning

         23  and the Building Department to correct this

         24  situation which will directly benefit the public who

         25  use our parks on a regular basis.  We think it's
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          2  better to invest our resources into solving problems

          3  like that and similar problems, I'm sorry, rather

          4  than devote time and resources to try to accurately

          5  map what turns out to be a very small percentage of

          6  the total amount of crime that occurs in New York

          7  City on an annual basis.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. We'll

          9  have to take your word for it at this point though,

         10  that's the problem but I'll get to that, I'll get to

         11  that in a few minutes.  Let me first start with the

         12  easy stuff, the CompStat, we're all on the same

         13  page. Again, my staff went and -- your testimony was

         14  pretty comprehensive so there aren't that many

         15  questions I have -- the information that is sent to

         16  CompStat, is it done on pieces of paper or is it

         17  done electronically?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: It's

         19  done primarily on disks.  They get collated.  What

         20  happens is each precinct produces a disk.   It gets

         21  collated at the borough level and then sent from the

         22  borough to the Chief of Department's Office for

         23  City- wide collation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, we're glad

         25  to hear that because on too many occasions, this
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          2  Committee's been told that that information is kept

          3  on pieces of paper on officer's desks so we're glad

          4  that this is being done on disks.

          5                 One of the most interesting things we

          6  saw was when you were questioning Precinct

          7  Commanders about the actions of certain detectives.

          8  For example, on a certain case, why didn't this

          9  happen and why was this done this way?  Let's say

         10  the answer to you is basically because the detective

         11  made a mistake and this isn't the first time.  What

         12  happens?  Is the Commanding Officer allowed to do

         13  discipline on his own or what happens once you

         14  determine that there were mistakes made on a case?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: In

         16  general what happens is -- CompStat is a learning

         17  process and an information sharing forum also and

         18  many times, we identify, for instance, training

         19  issues where a detective or an officer may not have

         20  enough knowledge to do what we expect them to do and

         21  we'll identify those training issues.  Primarily,

         22  discipline is taken, when necessary, by Commanding

         23  Officers who attend the CompStat meetings but are

         24  held accountable for the actions of the individuals

         25  who work for them so I guess the answer to your
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          2  question is the discipline process really is at the

          3  Commanding Officer level.  We rarely, if ever, to my

          4  recollection, I can't remember ever saying, you

          5  know, give that person some discipline.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Is the

          7  Commanding Officer authorized to do that on his own

          8  or take some action if it's his detective that he's

          9  answering for in front of you?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Yes,

         11  sir.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Regarding

         13  the information that is put up on the web for

         14  CompStat.  It's an excellent tool for the public,

         15  but you only put the seven major felony crimes up on

         16  the web right now and you just testified as to all

         17  the additional information that you're in possession

         18  of.  Why did you make that decision?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: We had

         20  to make decisions as to how much information is

         21  practical to put out easily.  For instance, when I

         22  refer to the fact that we measure more than 700

         23  performance indicators in preparation for a CompStat

         24  meeting, I'm sure that your staff informed you that

         25  the amount of paper and the book in front of me at a
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          2  CompStat meeting is about six inches thick.  That is

          3  just overwhelming data and difficult to produce in

          4  that fashion.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  One of

          6  the concerns that's been raised is that there's so

          7  much pressure now on Commanders because of CompStat

          8  which is holding them accountable, that there may be

          9  some sort of, maybe an exaggeration done on certain

         10  arrests.  For example, if something's worth $900,

         11  they'll make it worth $1100 just to get the felony

         12  as opposed to the misdemeanor.  As a former DA, as

         13  was Council Member Foster, we saw that happen many

         14  times in the complaint room where we knocked it down

         15  to misdemeanors and of course, the reverse was true.

         16    There are DA's who, for whatever reason, would

         17  lower crimes that should have been felonies so they

         18  don't deserve blame also but obviously, we've all

         19  seen the occasion where something that wasn't a

         20  felony should have been.  Have you come across that?

         21    Is there any safeguard against that?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: We have

         23  a number of safeguards in place and it really begins

         24  with the accountability of the Precinct Commanding

         25  Officers.  We don't tolerate -- it would be a mortal

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  sin to fudge, if you will, numbers.  In the past,

          3  where we've determined that a Precinct Commander's

          4  had, in fact, had irregular error rates in their

          5  classifications, they have been removed on a couple

          6  of different occasions.  Now our Quality Assurance

          7  Division has very stringent guidelines as to

          8  classification issues and we have a rather

          9  comprehensive method of accounting for our crime

         10  classifications which is an on going process, also

         11  included within the CompStat process separate from

         12  the Quality Assurance Division.  It's a major

         13  concern for us and it's something that we pay a lot

         14  of attention to.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I have no doubt

         16  that you pay attention to it because we've seen you

         17  in action.  I'll let -- other members will get back

         18  to CompStat but let me now move to the second issue.

         19

         20                 Commissioner Kavanagh, you stated

         21  that crime in parks is a small percentage of the

         22  crime that occurs and I have no doubt about that but

         23  the fact is we don't know that.  We have to rely on

         24  you to tell us that.  Some of us here believe that

         25  the community has a right to know about the safety
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          2  of it's parks. Right now, we're kept in the dark and

          3  we don't understand why it is that the Police

          4  Department can't let that information, which they

          5  possess right now, come out to the public so that

          6  the public will be aware of which parks are safe and

          7  which parks may not be safe before they send their

          8  children there.  So I'd like you each to answer that

          9  and in a little bit more detail than "our computers

         10  aren't set up to handle that".

         11                      DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY:

         12  Let me first give you the Police Department

         13  perspective on this.  First and foremost, as

         14  evidenced by our success with our crime reduction,

         15  crime within parks is already included within the

         16  geographical areas of our precincts.  Secondly, the

         17  numbers represent less than one percent of reported

         18  crime in 2004.  It's somewhere around three quarters

         19  of one percent reported crime occurs in City- owned

         20  parks.

         21                 Second of all, our Precinct

         22  Commanders, and I have personal knowledge of this,

         23  what you don't have in front of you is my resume,

         24  which has it that I was the Precinct Commander of

         25  the 33rd Precinct, where in 1997 actually
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          2  Commissioner Kavanagh and I became accustomed and

          3  acquainted with each other.  The 20th Precinct, I

          4  also had for two years and after the Louima

          5  incident, I became the Commanding Officer of the

          6  70th Precinct.

          7                 Crime within parks is addressed and

          8  is tracked on the local level on a constant, on-

          9  going basis as is every other crime in New York City

         10  and I can give you a good example of that. Back in

         11  1997, there was a crime pattern, a robbery pattern

         12  which was occurring in Highbridge Park and if you're

         13  familiar with Highbridge Park, it has a lot of

         14  cliffs and it's a very difficult park to navigate in

         15  a lot of different ways and it also crosses precinct

         16  boundary lines between the 34th Precinct and the

         17  33rd Precinct where I was the Precinct Commanding

         18  Officer and we had a robbery pattern where there was

         19  a homeless person who was committing robberies on

         20  the fringes of the park, crossing both precinct

         21  boundaries.  I identified three robberies that we

         22  felt were connected and I identified it very

         23  quickly, within two or three days of all incidents

         24  occurring and it happened in the vicinity of the

         25  borderline with the 34th Precinct so I immediately
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          2  conferred with the Commander of the 34th Precinct

          3  who had an additional two robberies which he felt

          4  were related.

          5                 We very quickly put together a plan.

          6  We pooled our resources and we had to use some other

          7  resources from the Agency. For instance, aviation,

          8  believe it or not, just to navigate some of the

          9  terrain within the park and figure out exactly where

         10  this person was and how we were going to apprehend

         11  him and we did it in very short order so --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I don't want you

         13  to misunderstand me.  No one here is guessing or

         14  questioning the way you deal with this data.  We are

         15  aware that you have it.  We are aware that you use

         16  it effectively on -- that you, that the police

         17  department is aware of what is crime committed in

         18  parks and is doing an excellent job to protect us.

         19  The question is why doesn't the public have this

         20  information?  Now you've said that the information

         21  is kept on a precinct level and that's true but if I

         22  look on the web to see what is crime is being

         23  committed in the 114 Precinct, which is what I

         24  represent, I have no idea what crime is being

         25  committed in that park or in the precincts.
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          2                 In fact other parks border many

          3  different precincts so you wouldn't even be able to

          4  look at the precinct.  You would have no idea.

          5  Myself and many of the people in this room feel that

          6  the public has a right to know what parks are safe

          7  and what aren't. In fact, maybe as you said, none of

          8  them are safe.  We just don't know that unless we

          9  read it in the papers and the fact that your

         10  computer isn't set up for it, really isn't a reason.

         11

         12                 Now, again, we are not questioning at

         13  all the way you use this data because you just gave

         14  us some information on how you do that and we

         15  commend that.  The question is the public wants to

         16  have this data and doesn't right now and I've yet to

         17  hear a reason why we can't fix that computer perhaps

         18  put the parks into grids on the computer and put the

         19  crime information into these grids.  You don't have

         20  to pinpoint exactly the location in the park.  You

         21  can divide it into four or five grids.  Again, why

         22  can't we -- why can't this happen?  Why can't the

         23  public be provided with this information?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Well,

         25  sir, I believe I understand your question and I
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          2  think that the bottom line lies in the fact that

          3  what you're referring to is the computerization of

          4  the information so that we can kind of sort of

          5  pinpoint it or break it down into various parts of

          6  the park.  What I tried to get across in my

          7  testimony is the fact that CompStat manifests itself

          8  in a CompStat meeting and while it does stand for

          9  Computer Statistics, I must caution you that

         10  Computer Statistics and pin mapping are not the

         11  majority of what CompStat is all about.  It's an on-

         12  going, dynamic process of identifying issues and

         13  addressing them so that the issue of actually pin

         14  mapping and telling us exactly where they are in the

         15  park, is not as important as knowing that the crimes

         16  are occurring in the park and reacting to it.  I'm

         17  not sure if that answers your question.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm not sure

         19  that you will be able to answer in any more detail

         20  than that but I also want to be clear -- we can't

         21  legislate, in case anyone is questioning this, we

         22  can't legislate what you put in CompStat.  We can

         23  only request that you put maybe more than seven

         24  major felony crimes on the web or request that you

         25  put Park 66 on the web but we can amend our Police
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          2  Disclosure Bill to ask you to provide that

          3  information to us and then we can submit it to the

          4  public on their request so the question is not so

          5  much how you get that information.  If you don't get

          6  it through CompStat, that's fine.  If it has to come

          7  through Precinct Commanders reporting it, then

          8  that's fine too.   The question is we would like to

          9  have that information and the only way that we're

         10  able to mandate, provide it to the Council so that

         11  we can provide that to interested community groups

         12  when they want it. Not so much CompStat but to

         13  provide to the Council through the Police Disclosure

         14  Bill.  Just so we're all clear and on the same page

         15  with that and there are many Council members with

         16  questions. I'm going to come back to a few that I

         17  have but I first want to go to the Chair of the

         18  Parks Committee, Council Member Helen Foster.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         20  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  First, let me thank you,

         21  Chairperson Vallone, for holding this hearing.  I

         22  think that we all know how important parks are to

         23  our community and the safety of them so I just have

         24  a few questions and I know my colleagues have

         25  questions so I'm not going to be long.  What parks
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          2  have, currently have their own dedicated police

          3  presence?  Are there any?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: There

          5  are a number. Central Park has it's own police

          6  precinct but that is probably the only example of a

          7  police precinct that covers any area in parks. What

          8  happens during the summer months, we created what we

          9  call "details" and Parks Department property such as

         10  Orchard Beach, Coney Island receive an influx of

         11  temporary transfers who operate basically as a

         12  precinct within those areas.  Those are the ones

         13  that come to mind.  There's probably more.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: As

         15  Commissioner McCarthy said, during the summer there

         16  are, of course, many more parks that have dedicated

         17  police staff but throughout the year, there are a

         18  number, I'm sorry I could not give you the specific

         19  number of large parks that do have regular patrols.

         20  Central Park is the only park that has it's own

         21  precinct but other large parks have regular patrols

         22  like Prospect Park, like Flushing Meadow Park, like

         23  Van Cortlandt Park.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And it's

         25  usually just based on the size of the parks that
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          2  this specific parole, I mean, patrol or presences

          3  exists?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Yes, on

          5  a daily, dedicated basis.  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And

          7  Commissioner McCarthy, you said on a local level

          8  that crimes in parks are tracked.  Who, where does

          9  that information go?  Who gets that information and

         10  how does a community, park association or advocates

         11  get access to that or do they?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Well,

         13  it's, I'm not sure I can answer your question

         14  properly so I'm going to try to do the best I can.

         15  What happens is, as I stated, when I was a Precinct

         16  Commander in the 33rd Precinct, any crime that

         17  occurred, say, within Highbridge Park, which was

         18  within the 33rd Precinct, I was aware of because on

         19  a daily, day to day basis, I sat down and reviewed

         20  every single crime that occurred in my command and

         21  naturally as we review them, we collate them.  We

         22  look for patterns.  We look for trends and we look

         23  for commonalities in any fashion and if it's a park

         24  crime, we would pick that up.  We would say, "okay,

         25  this is the second robbery that occurred in
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          2  Highbridge Park in the last two weeks and we're

          3  going to now take a closer look at what the

          4  perpetrators look like, whether or not there's a

          5  relationship.

          6                 That information, I would communicate

          7  to my community as Precinct Commander through

          8  meetings that were occurring.  Commissioner Kavanagh

          9  in his position, in his capacity while he was

         10  working in Upper Manhattan, that's where he and I

         11  had our communication so it's communicated on the

         12  precinct command level between the two agencies and

         13  then at the same time, it's communicated to the

         14  community through the commanding officer who should

         15  be putting out information regarding crime

         16  conditions.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: But are those,

         18  and maybe I misunderstood, for example, the bulk of

         19  my district is represented by the 44th Precinct.  If

         20  there were an arrest in Crotona Park, would it be

         21  characterized as a incident or assault, battery in

         22  Crotona Park or would they say 170th and Claremont?

         23  Which then takes it out of the park and then how

         24  does my Park Council, who's very active in Crotona

         25  Park, know that is an area they may need to focus on
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          2  in terms of getting more community residents

          3  involved in the park?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Right,

          5  when a police officer takes a complaint report, one

          6  of the questions on the complaint report is whether

          7  it's in or outside of a park property and if they

          8  check the box that it is, then we can subsequently

          9  pull the information and that's how we develop our

         10  information on what crime occurs in parks.  When we

         11  pin map that particular event, it would probably be

         12  pin mapped at say 170th Street and Webster Avenue,

         13  if that's the point where Crotona Park comes up on

         14  the map.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Okay.

         16  Commissioner Kavanagh, you mentioned in your

         17  testimony that it would be time consuming because

         18  then maps would have to be landmarked and accurately

         19  mapped so you know where in the park.  Then how

         20  currently are crimes tracked in the park if you

         21  don't have those landmarks in place anyway?  Like

         22  you can't say near a tree in Crotona Park.  Doesn't

         23  it have to have some type of landmarking anyway?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Well,

         25  as the Commissioner described, the information

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  that's captured for a crime, even if it occurs in a

          3  park, is the nearest street intersection and that's

          4  one of the limits of the system as it currently

          5  stands now.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: So then it's

          7  not really tracking crimes in parks, it's tracking

          8  crimes on the streets closest to the parks?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Yes and

         10  no.  It, as the Commissioner explained, if the crime

         11  took place in a park, the officer will check that on

         12  the arrest report but the location is listed as the

         13  nearest intersection of the park when it is pin

         14  mapped.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: There's

         16  a difference between recording where a crime occurs

         17  and pin mapping where it occurs and the pin mapping

         18  has to do with geo- coding and coordinates on a map.

         19    The actual of recording of whether or not a crime

         20  occurred within a park occurs when the officer

         21  indicates that on a complaint report.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Commissioner

         23  McCarthy, you mentioned in your testimony about the

         24  capturing of the information computer- wise would be

         25  difficult.  Do you know if there are currently any
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          2  cities in place that have a computer system that

          3  allows you to break down the tracking of crimes by

          4  parks specifically and put that information out to

          5  the public?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: No, I'm

          7  not aware.  I don't know if it exists or does not.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Okay.  Do you

          9  know, Deputy Commissioner?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: No, I

         11  don't.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: I just have

         13  one last question and then I'm going to -- I assume

         14  my colleagues have more.  I actually have more but I

         15  don't want to be selfish.  How, given that parks are

         16  such an integral park of a community and in

         17  communities like mine where I have an active Park

         18  Council and people are very involved and concerned

         19  with the status of their parks, what is your

         20  recommendation in terms of those people getting

         21  information on their specific parks in terms of

         22  crimes and what's going on?  How should they go

         23  about getting that?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Again,

         25  there are the limitations to the specificity as to
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          2  the information but I think participation of the

          3  local precinct community council would be a,

          4  certainly, an avenue to have that dialog with the

          5  local commanders.             COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:

          6  Would you agree with that?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY:

          8  Absolutely.  That's pretty much the system that I

          9  was trying to describe earlier, how I did it

         10  personally and that's how our commanders do it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And the, you

         12  said how you did it personally.  Is that a across

         13  the board type of approach?  Do you know with all

         14  the commanders?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: You're

         16  asking a specific question that to give a specific

         17  answer, the policy of the Department is that we will

         18  communicate information to our communities through a

         19  various network of meetings.  That's the Department

         20  policy and to my knowledge, that is, in fact, being

         21  adhered to.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         23  Again, I'd just like to say that I don't think in

         24  anyway, from my stand point, we are looking at this

         25  information to give the Police Department and the
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          2  Parks Department more work and that it serves no

          3  purpose.  I think that it will have a trickle down

          4  effect in terms of building stronger communities via

          5  building stronger parks and so I'd like to, I have

          6  some additional questions and maybe at another time

          7  because I know my colleagues have questions but I

          8  think this is important information to get out to

          9  the public as we go about building communities and

         10  keeping them strong, letting them know what crime is

         11  occurring where.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         13  Council member and for assistance with this hearing.

         14    Just quickly, I think it's clear that you have the

         15  information.  Is there anyway right now for the

         16  public to know about crime levels in parks as we sit

         17  here right now?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Is

         19  there an established method to put it out?  No,

         20  there is not.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, if there are

         22  two rapes or two murders in a park in a month, in a

         23  local park, unless the press reports this, there is

         24  no way the community will know and they can't make

         25  an informed choice as to whether to use this park or
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          2  let their children use this park until the Police

          3  Department comes out and let's us know or catches

          4  the person.  That's just not the way things need to

          5  be done.  You have the information.  We'd like to

          6  have the information.

          7                 Let me go to Council Member Jackson

          8  in whose district, again, Sara Fox was murdered

          9  actually and I'm sure her family doesn't feel that

         10  one percent is an inconsequential amount of crime.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.  I

         12  just wanted to follow up on my colleague Helen

         13  Foster's questioning about, I guess, keeping

         14  statistics and I have a map in my office of my

         15  Councilmatic district and it has in there the space

         16  where parks are.  Now, you're saying, right now when

         17  you're pinpointing, you pin point to the nearest

         18  street in order to determine that a crime occurred

         19  there so I don't see why the system can't pinpoint

         20  exactly where the crime has occurred in the park.  I

         21  don't see why that cannot be done and I represent, I

         22  used to represent all of Highbridge Park, Inwood

         23  Park, Fort Tryon Park, Riverside Drive and all of

         24  that but now that I don't, Miguel Martinez

         25  represents Highbridge Park and I know exactly what
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          2  you're talking about in the situations there.

          3                 But I know, let me just go to

          4  Riverside Park at 148th Street.  To access the park,

          5  you know you have to come down, go down the stairs

          6  and go underneath the tunnel there and I know that

          7  when I go through the tunnel, and especially

          8  depending on what time of day or time of evening it

          9  is, you kind of leery because somebody could be

         10  behind the wall there and come out an mug you, you

         11  know what I mean?  And so, if robberies are

         12  occurring, for example, at that location, obviously

         13  if they're reported, the commanding officer knows

         14  that and what have you and so forth, but as far as

         15  pinpointing, you're only going to pinpoint the 148th

         16  Street and Riverside Drive when, from actuality the

         17  crimes are occurring inside the park, more

         18  specifically near the underpass. Do you know what I

         19  mean?

         20                 And I think it's important as far as

         21  if we're going to track stuff for people that are

         22  involved with the parks and the public to know

         23  exactly where crimes are occurring in the park so

         24  for example if they were, in that example that I

         25  gave, if there were happenings, muggings or
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          2  robberies, were happening when people were going

          3  underneath, I may take another route rather than go

          4  that particular route or stay away from the park or

          5  then contact whoever I need to contact as far as

          6  information about it.  I don't, as a legislator that

          7  represents that area in northern Manhattan, I just

          8  cannot understand why it cannot be done and I have

          9  not heard a reasonable explanation as to why it

         10  cannot be done.

         11                 Will it take a little bit more time?

         12  I would say yes.  Will it take reconfiguring the

         13  computer? I would say, maybe, yes but I think that

         14  it's not an unreasonable request and so I'm just, I

         15  guess at a loss of words as to understanding what

         16  the difficulty is and maybe either one or both of

         17  you can respond.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Let me

         19  see if I can try to explain this.  The issue of pin

         20  mapping a crime is a technological one, okay?  On

         21  the precinct level, the precinct commanding officer,

         22  in your example would be the 30th precinct --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Not incident,

         24  but example that I gave.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: 145th
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          2  and Riverside Drive.  The Precinct Commanding

          3  Officer will be aware of where those incidents occur

          4  on the local level.  For me to look at it from

          5  Police Headquarters with the technology that we

          6  possess, I will not be able to do that.  It will

          7  come up to a coordinate on a street because the

          8  parks, and I'm unfamiliar with the technical terms,

          9  the longitude and latitude issues, are not laid out

         10  in geo coded for us in our computers.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The software,

         12  you mean that you use?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: I guess

         14  it would be software.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: But

         17  those are technological issues.  On a practical

         18  level, that information is possessed by our

         19  commanders and reacted to.  As I told you with the

         20  Highbridge Park incidents, I knew where they were.

         21  They're at the northern tip of the park and

         22  therefore, we took actions.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yeah, and I

         24  think that like you said maybe it's a software

         25  situation because, you know, if the closest street

                                                            52

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  to the example that I gave is 148th Street and

          3  Riverside Drive and here's the grid, the map in here

          4  and here's a park here, and on the map you have the

          5  West Side Highway there and the railroad tracks.

          6  That's all on the map.  I can, I don't see why we

          7  can't develop the software, improve the software to

          8  map that crime exactly where it occurred at, the

          9  same as you, I think pinpoint where a crime occurs

         10  as far as in the police precinct.  I just don't, I

         11  think it can be done.  I don't know what the cost

         12  factor is.

         13                 I think it needs to be looked into in

         14  order so far overall we, meaning all of the agencies

         15  and departments of the City of New York, can be as

         16  precise as possible and I guess determining where

         17  crime occurs and trying to communicate effectively

         18  to the people that use the parks where crimes are

         19  occurring in the parks and I know that, you know,

         20  the crimes, the murder of Sara Fox has not been

         21  resolved yet and I know that that's still a major

         22  issue in northern Manhattan and you have

         23  representatives that are going to be speaking about,

         24  you know, this particular issue with respects to

         25  Inwood Park but I know there are concerns about all
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          2  of the parks that our constituents use.  I request

          3  that you maybe consult with your technical people as

          4  far as whether or not the software can be upgraded

          5  to include that and if there's a cost factor

          6  involved then let's determine what the cost factor

          7  is.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          9  Council member. Just a follow up, the location of

         10  148th and Riverside Drive, that gets on the grid

         11  because, and correct me if I'm wrong, because an

         12  officer marks that location down?  It's not placed

         13  on because a satellite picked it up and that's the

         14  closest the satellite can put it onto the grid.

         15  Just explain to us how that gets in there.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: No, the

         17  way the officer would probably record a complaint

         18  like that would be within Riverside Park at 148th

         19  Street for purposes of recording it on a complaint

         20  report.  On a practical level, what you're

         21  requesting occurs on the local level.  Our

         22  commanders know where the crime is within the park.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We completely

         24  understand that but if the officer's putting 148th

         25  down and Riverside as the nearest intersection and
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          2  that information is being transmitted even to you

          3  downtown, why is it not possible for that officer to

          4  put down Riverside Park, grid C, quadrant A, however

          5  you want to divide it up?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Well,

          7  right now, that doesn't exist is the answer.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, Council

          9  Member Dilan.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chair and welcome Deputy Commissioners McCarthy and

         12  Kavanagh.  Just, I have a few simple questions and

         13  I'd just like the best possible answer on these

         14  subjects.  Just before I begin, have both of you

         15  individuals had a chance to look over the bill or

         16  peruse it or be briefed at all on 470?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Yes.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: I have

         19  very limited knowledge of it.  I'm sorry.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay and then

         21  I'll direct it to you, Deputy Commissioner McCarthy,

         22  and it's, in some ways, a follow up to my colleague,

         23  Council Member Jackson's question relating to the

         24  CompStat software.  Was this software, when it was

         25  created, was it internally created by the NYPD or
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          2  was there an outside consultant that was involved in

          3  creating this, the CompStat system?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: I'm not

          5  a thousand percent sure but I believe --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: To the best of

          7  your knowledge.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: --

          9  Outside, and it's called MapInfo.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: MapInfo.  Okay,

         11  so when it was created, it was created for the seven

         12  index crimes and I think everybody agrees that it's

         13  worked phenomenally well in helping local precinct

         14  commanders.  I get the reports from all three

         15  jurisdictions in my Council district, the 75th, 73rd

         16  and 83rd Precinct and it's informative for me but I

         17  guess how helpful would it be, and you may have the

         18  data, but how helpful would it be for you, to City-

         19  wide, see how crimes were occurring in parks as a

         20  different subset of CompStat.  Would you consider

         21  that helpful at all?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: More

         23  information, as far as intelligence is concerned,

         24  crime recording and reaction to it, is always

         25  better.  However, the perpetrator who commits a
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          2  crime within your park probably does not only commit

          3  crime within that park so in another sense, it also

          4  helps for us to kind of say "Okay, it's in a park.

          5  It's in a housing development.  It's on a street."

          6  We track it in it's totality so whether or not it's

          7  in a park, is, I'm not sure how much it would help,

          8  honestly.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I think it

         10  helped in the instance, when, in my district, some

         11  time ago, there was the Zodiac Killer who primarily

         12  did crime in parks, specifically the Highland Park

         13  region, and just doing that and that was a major

         14  bust on behalf of the NYPD so it helps in instances

         15  like that but I guess, within CompStat, how are then

         16  crimes tracked in the areas of public housing?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: In the

         18  same fashion that I referred to.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, so the

         20  Commanders of the PSA units City- wide, they're not

         21  accountable for their numbers. How do they justify

         22  their numbers in terms of reporting?  Is it

         23  something that they do locally or is it something

         24  that the Precinct Commanders do?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: No,
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          2  they, our Housing Bureau records crime --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: -- And

          5  it gets collated into our system.  What happens is,

          6  what I'm referring to in the same way, is within a

          7  housing development, the coordinates kind of end up

          8  working the same way.  If we have a specific

          9  address, it comes up to that address but many times,

         10  housing developments, the addresses are within a

         11  courtyard.  That crime might, in fact, come up to a

         12  cross street on the edge of the development when you

         13  pin map it.  For practical purposes, the Commander

         14  of the PSA and the Precinct should be aware of where

         15  that crime occurs within their geographical area.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, so if the

         17  PSA command, say the Command of a PSA, which usually

         18  consists of several Precinct commands, that

         19  information gets divided out and then sent to the

         20  appropriate local command, is that correct?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Well,

         22  it kind of comes the other way and then gets pitched

         23  out.  It gets broken down.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: And then, how

         25  would crimes then be reported in transit, when
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          2  somebody's on a train or how does the Transit Bureau

          3  report that to the command and how are those crimes

          4  reflected in CompStat?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Transit

          6  crime is a particular issue for us in figuring out

          7  exactly where it occurs because the trains are

          8  moving --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Yes.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: -- And

         11  what happens is --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I'm getting to

         13  a point.  I just wanted to --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: --

         15  Okay, if somebody gets robbed on a train, it'll be

         16  recorded at the first station that they report it at

         17  so that somebody might, the Number Six line is what

         18  I'm familiar with being from the Bronx, if somebody

         19  gets robbed between Middletown Road and Westchester

         20  Square on the southbound Number Six train and

         21  doesn't report it until Park Chester, unless we

         22  figure out that that crime occurred between

         23  Middletown Road and Westchester Square, it's going

         24  to be recorded at Park Chester.  So crime within

         25  transit is a particular issue to narrow down.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: It gets

          3  recorded at the location of --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Report

          5  or discovery.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Report or

          7  discovery.  Okay and then --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: And we

          9  try to drill down on it now and it might be location

         10  and time of report versus location and time of

         11  occurrence.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: -- But they are

         13  reflected in CompStat.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY:

         15  Absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, but

         17  there's no way to break that down as far as if you

         18  needed to, City- wide just, publicly create a

         19  database that said these are the amount of crimes in

         20  trains which I think you've identified that you have

         21  it, is there a way to break that down?  Is there a

         22  mechanism to break that down?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Yes,

         24  but again, I think we're confusing the issue of

         25  recording it and pin mapping it.             COUNCIL
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          2  MEMBER DILAN: Well, I have to say yes.  I am a

          3  little confused about recording and pin mapping

          4  because I don't think, and you stated you didn't get

          5  too much opportunity to review the bill, but I don't

          6  think that the bill is requesting that it gets

          7  recorded in CompStat.  I think the bill just

          8  specifically asks for a mechanism where crimes in a

          9  certain area a reported and that they are reported

         10  to the public.  I think the people at large, whether

         11  it be a crime or school, we know the UFT certainly

         12  has their way of getting crimes in schools and

         13  parents have their ways of getting crimes reported

         14  in schools.

         15                 There's a mechanism for housing.

         16  There's a mechanism for tracking crime in transit

         17  and there's a mechanism for tracking crime in

         18  schools.  So the only thing that the bill is looking

         19  for whether it's in CompStat or not, whether it's

         20  pin mapped or not, is a mechanism that crime in

         21  parks be tracked on a City- wide level and to the

         22  people of New York City to be able to access that

         23  data online in some fashion so I guess that's the

         24  aim of the bill and that's why I'm somewhat confused

         25  on, you know, how pin mapping gets involved.  I'm
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          2  confused to that so, you know, I'll leave that there

          3  but I guess that's the aim.

          4                 Now to Commissioner Kavanagh, I

          5  guess, within the Parks Department, I guess, if you

          6  had to produce say like a top ten list of the safest

          7  parks and say the bottom ten list of parks that

          8  maybe need attention.  Does the Parks Department

          9  currently have the ability to do that?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Based

         11  on the reports that Commissioner McCarthy described,

         12  we do know which parks have more reported crime and

         13  which parks have no reported crime.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: So you know

         15  which, so is that a yes or is that no?  Would you

         16  have the ability to do it or you wouldn't?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Yes.  Okay.

         19  Last question, Mr. Chair.  If a crime is committed,

         20  I think I've answered it but maybe I've asked it but

         21  I'll ask it again and just, my last question is,

         22  Deputy Commissioner McCarthy, if a crime is

         23  committed in a park and the local commander has the

         24  data on that crime, is there a City- wide procedure,

         25  and I think it was answered, and you can just answer
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          2  it quickly if it has been, is there a City- wide

          3  procedure for relaying the information to the Parks

          4  Department on a City- wide level?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Yes,

          6  there is.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Yes, there is

          8  and what's that mechanism again?  You may have said

          9  it but just --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Well,

         11  actually I'm not sure if I did.  What happens is we

         12  take and collate the information and what we do is,

         13  based upon what's been identified as occurring

         14  within parks, is sent to the Parks Department and

         15  something else that I have to add is that besides,

         16  City- owned parks, you know, there's privately owned

         17  parks and other parks and I think that that may

         18  cause a confusion.  What's a City- owned park and

         19  what's not a City- owned park and that has to do

         20  with the education and of our officers in

         21  identifying that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay but like

         23  say a park that's publicly displayed as New York

         24  City park.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: What's the

          3  procedure for a local command to relay that data to

          4  the Parks Department?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: The

          6  local communication happens at the Precinct

          7  Commander level with the local Parks Department.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: And that would

          9  be the borough, that would be just the borough Parks

         10  Department?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: The

         12  Borough Parks Department at several levels.  It

         13  could be the Borough Commissioner.  It could be the

         14  local manager who is responsible for the park or

         15  parks that coincide with a particular precinct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay.  Thank

         17  you, Mr. Chair. Thank you, gentlemen for answering

         18  the questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You made a very

         20  good point, Council member.  If they can't map it,

         21  that would mean they can't put it on CompStat

         22  because of their computer software and potentially

         23  we need to bring in some computer people to figure

         24  that out but that doesn't mean they don't have the

         25  information that they can provide to us in a
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          2  different manner because they do have that

          3  information so I think that's the distinction.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: That's why I

          5  was confused on the pin mapping.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council member,

          7  let me just introduce Council Member Jennings.

          8  Thank you for joining us and go to Council Member

          9  Gennaro for questions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chairman. It's a pleasure to be with you today.

         12  I want to follow along the questioning that was made

         13  to, regarding the computers and if we can figure out

         14  a way to isolate points in the park and during your

         15  statement, Deputy Commissioner Kavanagh, it wasn't

         16  in your written statement but you did say it during

         17  your testimony.  I think it was after the end of the

         18  written statement about the Borough Presidents and

         19  the Parks Department are figuring out some kind of

         20  GIS system to map the parks.  You made reference to

         21  some kind of initiative. Can you just explain

         22  briefly what that is?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Well,

         24  we have a City wide initiative to map all of our

         25  parks --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: "We" being

          3  the Parks Department?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: We,

          5  being the Parks Department and there are a number of

          6  applications, many of which will relate directly to

          7  public safety but one of them is to assign building

          8  addresses to every structure within the Parks

          9  Department so that patrons, emergency responders can

         10  identify effectively every structure in the system

         11  which does not exist right now.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay and how

         13  long will this effort take and when do you think

         14  this will be completed?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         16  hesitate to project a completion date.  We began

         17  working on it several months ago.  We are collecting

         18  all of the data from our organization that's needed

         19  for this process but there is a lengthy bureaucratic

         20  process involved in assigning an address to any

         21  particular property.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: But it's

         23  something which has been funded and it's an on-

         24  going initiative, you're currently underway with it

         25  now.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Yes,

          3  and there are other things that we hope to

          4  accomplish using this technology to make parks

          5  safer.  We are working to identify the access points

          6  to parks for emergency vehicles, routes within parks

          7  that emergency vehicles can access safely, mapping

          8  things like call boxes.  There are --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Right.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: -- Are

         11  number of things that we are working on.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay, so if I

         13  can follow this to it's next level, I guess this

         14  would involve Deputy Commissioner McCarthy.  So, the

         15  Parks Department does this and they create a

         16  paradigm whereby features in the parks have actual

         17  addresses and do you believe it would be helpful

         18  once the system is in place to provide the kind of

         19  detailed information that doesn't, that's not really

         20  provided now because now we have to use the street

         21  outside the park but once this mechanism is in

         22  place, wouldn't that open the door to the kind of

         23  specificity that I think we all desire in terms of

         24  locating where crimes are?  This is for Deputy

         25  Commissioner McCarthy.

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: We

          3  would always look to upgrade our technology.  That's

          4  the Real Time Crime Center initiative like I

          5  mentioned that we're trying to do.  More information

          6  is always useful.  The better analysis and

          7  intelligence that we do would only help us.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: And again

          9  back to you, Deputy Commissioner Kavanagh, to what

         10  extent is the, does the Police Department have any

         11  role be it some kind of advice or input or otherwise

         12  on the process that the Parks Department is

         13  undertaking now with this computer mapping.  Is

         14  there a nexus between the Parks Department and the

         15  Police Department on this effort?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KAVANAGH: In terms of

         17  the City- wide GIS mapping, we work with the

         18  Department of Information and Technology for that

         19  purpose.  They're the clearinghouse for coordinating

         20  all of these things and making sure that they are

         21  used as effectively as possible.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: If I can make

         23  a recommendation, there's clearly an interest on the

         24  part of the Council for more specific crime

         25  reporting in parks and to the extent that there is
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          2  already a system underway to do more precise GIS

          3  mapping to the extent that there could be linkage

          4  with the Police Department so the system, once it's

          5  done, can be police friendly so that we can have the

          6  kind of crime reporting.  I think as long as we're

          7  in the process of inventing the system anyway,

          8  perhaps that would be an effort that might make some

          9  sense.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: We

         11  agree completely. We think that this effort will

         12  have long term benefits, not only for the Parks

         13  Department, for other city agencies.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Yeah, but I'm

         15  talking about like linkage with the police in the

         16  development of this so that once put in place, this

         17  could be some kind of police friendly system so that

         18  the police would know, for example, now, if there's

         19  a crime and I represent Flushing Meadow Park or part

         20  of it anyway, the southern part of it, when the

         21  police, when the officer responds to a crime, when

         22  they fill out the report, is it the police officer

         23  at the scene says, "Okay, I'm right by the Meadow

         24  Lake Boathouse" but I'm the one that's going to put

         25  down Van Wyck Expressway and Jewel Avenue which
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          2  would be sort of like the closest, you know,

          3  intersection to that.  Is it the officer that makes

          4  that designation of what intersection is going to

          5  appear on the report or does the officer just say,

          6   "This crime happened like outside the boathouse on

          7  Meadow Lake and then somebody else figures out that

          8  the nearest intersection would be Jewel Avenue and

          9  the Van Wyck.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: I

         11  understand your question and again I have to try and

         12  maybe I'm not communicating it properly.  An officer

         13  when he fills out or she fills out that complaint

         14  report, they will list within Flushing Meadow Park

         15  and then they will try to describe it as best they

         16  can.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Like by the

         18  boathouse or whatever it is.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: A

         20  hundred yards south of the boathouse, for arguments

         21  sake.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: When

         24  all the crimes within Flushing Meadow Park are pin

         25  mapped through the computerization process, they
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          2  will come up at one spot depending on where they

          3  were recorded.  If they're in the park --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Oh, I see so

          5  all the crimes in the park, no matter where you are

          6  in Flushing Meadow Park, is going to be one

          7  intersection, whether it's at the top by the

          8  Unisphere or down by Meadow Lake.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: There's

         10  probably, they probably break out depending on if

         11  you take a large park like Flushing --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Right.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: --

         14  Meadow Park.  If you take Riverside Park which

         15  extends a long way up the side of Manhattan --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Right.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: --

         18  Probably the same thing, there's probably --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: It crosses

         20  precinct boundaries.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Correct

         22  but again, on a practical level, this is occurring

         23  in the precinct.  From our technological standpoint,

         24  when we computerize it and look at it on a map, it

         25  comes up to that location.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay.  Thank

          3  you.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          5  Council Member Katz.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you,

          7  gentlemen for being here today.  I think I'm just a

          8  little floored by the whole discussion.  I have a

          9  great working relationship with both the Police

         10  Department and the Parks Department and I think 99

         11  percent of the time, I'm usually on the side of

         12  understanding where both agencies are coming from

         13  but in this particular conversation, I have to say,

         14  I think if the general public were reading the

         15  transcript of the hearing, this would be exactly the

         16  type of annoyance that the public feels government

         17  is prone to.

         18                 I think it's a very simple topic and

         19  I think when we said not communicating it properly.

         20  I think you're communicating it just fine.  I think

         21  we are just failing to agree maybe that either a.

         22  It's such a big deal to do or b. That the technology

         23  with the City of New York having all the technology

         24  that we have, it just can't find a way to do this.

         25                 So let me just try to understand what
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          2  the problem is and again, it's not that you're not

          3  communicating it properly.  You are.  It's just that

          4  we're trying to understand why it's a -- we aren't

          5  really asking, and what Council Member Dilan was

          6  saying I think is very true, we're not really

          7  talking about CompStat.  I think we're talking about

          8  the report that the City Council has just worked

          9  with the Police Department to come up with to be

         10  able to disseminate the information from the Police

         11  Department to the New York City Council so that we

         12  are more familiar and aware of what's going on in

         13  our districts.

         14                 Right now, already, the subsets of

         15  the housing and the transit is already in that

         16  report.  I'd like to, one day, talk about if you're

         17  on the "E" train going from 71st Avenue to Roosevelt

         18  Avenue and a crime occurred on 71st and it's

         19  reported at Roosevelt, the crime then according to

         20  your stats, is a Roosevelt Avenue, right but on the

         21   "e" train?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: It

         23  depends on how it's reported.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  At some

         25  point, Mr. Chair, I'd like to discuss how that's
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          2  done because I think that it's important to know

          3  that the crime occurred at 71st instead of, you

          4  know, Queens Plaza.  I think that's an important

          5  aspect of the conversation.

          6                 I am, just for the record, I have the

          7  least amount of parks of any Council district in the

          8  City of New York but like any crime, you know, even

          9  though the statistics say crime is going down, if

         10  you're mugged, crime has gone up so I think it's

         11  important to sort of put that in perspective from

         12  where I'm coming from.

         13                 I have a question.  If the rape that

         14  occurred in Flushing Meadow Park, I think it

         15  occurred outside of Shea Stadium on that platform,

         16  like where would that, that would have been

         17  ostensibly been reported at the intersection that

         18  Flushing Meadow Park has in your crime reports to

         19  us, correct?  It would be on that corner?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: That's

         21  correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: But in that

         23  particular case, I mean that's a perfect example of

         24  why the Council needs to know that it was in a park.

         25    If that wasn't advertised.  If that wasn't in the
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          2  newspapers.  If that wasn't reported every single

          3  day for a week.  If the public advocate hadn't made

          4  such a big deal out of park crime, a rape at that

          5  time, we might not have known that that was in a

          6  park and in that particular case, Mr. Chair if you

          7  recall, the problem was that the woman ran into

          8  another area of the park that had sort of this

          9  homeless community and that was an important aspect

         10  of that crime.  So is there any way when you report

         11  that crime and we got it, we would have known that

         12  that was in a park?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: That

         14  crime would be recorded as occurring in a park.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: In a park, so

         16  when we got our criminal report here, it would have

         17  said, "in Flushing Meadow Park"?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: That's

         19  correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So then, if

         21  that's the case, then why is it so hard to have a

         22  subsection in the report to us?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: I don't

         24  know enough about the report that you're referring

         25  to, to be able to answer your question.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Council

          3  Member Katz, if I could interject here a minute --

          4  and it sort of goes to the heart of our difficulty

          5  with this particular issue.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I'm not sure

          7  what that is. That's really the problem here.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I'm

          9  going to try to explain.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Of

         12  course, it is important, information is important as

         13  Commissioner McCarthy said at the beginning of his

         14  testimony.  Timely, accurate information is one of

         15  the founding principles of CompStat and it is the

         16  accuracy of the information that is a little bit of

         17  a problem right now because of the way it is

         18  recorded.  It is completely accurate for the purpose

         19  that is intended.  That is to track and fight crime.

         20  It is not completely accurate to map it in a place

         21  like a park and the example that you cite is

         22  telling.  It was a horrible crime. There's no

         23  question about it and the woman was abducted from

         24  the, what we call the "passeral" (phonetic).  It is

         25  the walkway between Shea Stadium and the U.S. Tennis
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          2  Center but the homeless encampment and where the

          3  assault actually took place was on property of the

          4  MTA.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I am well aware

          6  of that.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: That is

          8  not at all significant in terms of the crime and the

          9  severity and anything like that but it is important

         10  in terms of where that particular crime gets mapped

         11  and I'm not saying that it shouldn't be on our

         12  ledger, that's not the point at all.  It is the

         13  accuracy of where that ultimately gets tracked.

         14                 Now, as we have said before, we've

         15  looked at the reports of crimes that take place in

         16  parks.  The police give that to us on a monthly

         17  basis.  We have attempted to map that according to

         18  our current technologies.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: But just point

         20  of information, it sounded like the Commissioner was

         21  saying it's already done in our report and that's --

         22  Mr. Chair, either I'm unclear as to what we are

         23  asking for because it sounds to me like what we are

         24  asking for is that in the status report given to us

         25  by the Police Department, which we passed
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          2  legislation for about a year ago, we would like a

          3  subset saying which crimes occurred in a park and it

          4  sounded to me like the Commissioner just said that

          5  it's done that way and I'm not sure which is

          6  accurate.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: I did

          8  not say that it's reported to you in that fashion.

          9  What I said was, it's recorded as occurring in a

         10  park.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay but if it

         12  was in a housing --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: And

         14  what I also said was that I'm not familiar --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: -- With

         17  the report that you're referring to.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: But if it was in

         19  a housing complex or on the transit, it would be in

         20  a separate category -- as already in the bill.

         21  Okay, I'm sorry to interrupt now.  I'm sorry.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: When

         23  we, one, none of the reports can specify exactly

         24  where the crime took place and that's important

         25  information as anyone, I think, would acknowledge.
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          2  The second thing, when we mapped it, the program

          3  that we used and this is just a program, it

          4  indicated that approximately 25, I'm sorry, 28

          5  percent of the reports questioned the accuracy of

          6  the mapping of the report.

          7                 Not the accuracy of the crime.  Not

          8  the fact that it took place.  Not the data that the

          9  Police Department needs to track the crime but

         10  questioned the accuracy of the mapping and that's a

         11  pretty significant potential error rate.  I'm not

         12  saying it is an error rate but it's a pretty

         13  significant number and when you're talking about

         14  crime in parks, the perception of safety is

         15  important.  When people feel safe in parks, they use

         16  parks more and the more people use parks, the safer

         17  they become.  That's a fact and until we're at the

         18  point where we can specify where it took place

         19  within a park, I think that the information is not

         20  as useful as it possibly could be.

         21                 Yes, there is technology that would

         22  allow you to do that.  I couldn't estimate what the

         23  investment it would take to provide that right now

         24  but I think it would be significant.  You're talking

         25  about 35,000 police officers and a network of
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          2  precincts throughout the City and that's a huge

          3  investment.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: I think

          5  I have something else which may help clear some of

          6  this up because we seem to be missing on some level.

          7    Every geographical space within New York City is

          8  covered by a precinct.  All our crimes are reported

          9  within precincts.  Subsets of that crime include

         10  housing and transit and whether or not a crime

         11  occurs in a park is information that we can, in

         12  fact, dig down and develop based on the reporting

         13  mechanism that is in place today.  Pin mapping that

         14  crime is a separate issue.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay, I just

         16  respectfully and I do do this respectfully,

         17  disagree.  I just think that, you know, in today's

         18  day and time, any, any way that I do my computer

         19  files, I can have subsets and fields and with all

         20  due respect, if you're already saying that the

         21  report that we get has that it happened in a park,

         22  it's just not as simply a subset then it seems to me

         23  that taking it one step further and having a subset

         24  of parks is not a very difficult computer software

         25  process.  It just doesn't seem that hard.
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          2                 If the Commissioner is concerned and

          3  I don't think he meant this but if he's concerned

          4  that if we, if it's -- we want it easy to find.  If

          5  there are crimes happening in a park, we want it to

          6  be easy to find.  We want the Council member to be

          7  able to look up Forest Park, these are all the

          8  crimes that occurred in Forest Park so that we can

          9  work with our local precincts and we can work with

         10  our local security force and that we can tell our

         11  constituents, "Hey, there's a problem.  There's a

         12  problem in whatever park you live in or you're going

         13  to and you should know that."

         14                 So I don't believe again that we're

         15  missing anything.  I think we probably just disagree

         16  on how it's done but I thank you for the

         17  explanation.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         19  Before I get to the other Council members, just let

         20  me just ask you to keep your questions short because

         21  there are 18 people left to testify after this and

         22  let me just ask some of the Mayor's people that are

         23  here to listen for a moment because I know what's

         24  behind this.  I know you're just sending a message

         25  and it's more about this not giving us information
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          2  so let me say this.

          3                 When I introduced my School Crime

          4  Data bill which required information regarding

          5  crimes in schools to be on the web which was just

          6  passed into law, overrode a veto a couple weeks ago,

          7  I introduced it last year.  There was no school

          8  crime data on the web.  After I introduced it,

          9  somehow the City started putting school crime data

         10  on the web before we passed it into law.  That's a

         11  good thing.  You take a good idea.  You work with

         12  it.

         13                 If that's what happens here, we would

         14  be happy. However this information gets on the web,

         15  whether it's through a bill or just because you

         16  heard a good idea and you ran with it, that would be

         17  a good thing.  Council Member Jennings.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman. I'd like to ask you regarding

         20  information regarding crimes that you get from the

         21  Police Department, I guess this is directed to the

         22  Parks person, when many of your park property have

         23  Long Island Railroad trains going through it, what's

         24  your relationship in terms of gathering data from

         25  the MTA as it relates to crime that took place on
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          2  property that's dually used by you?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  Currently, we don't have any process to capture

          5  information from the MTA.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: And that's

          7  an issue, I have with me who is Inspector Ashby, he

          8  actually was a Commanding Officer that reported to

          9  the rape that took place on, in Flushing Meadow

         10  Park.  Apparently, the young lady was walking along

         11  the bridge above the Long Island Railroad.  The

         12  gentleman grabbed her and brought her down to the

         13  train platform.  I know the Inspector responded

         14  within two hours later after, of course, it occurred

         15  but there seem to be, you know, probably discussion

         16  on lack of communication between, particularly where

         17  Long Island Railroad facilities are between crimes

         18  that may occur that the MTA could also assist in.  I

         19  don't know if you have anything to say about that.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I'm

         21  sorry I can't respond to the specifics of a case.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Oh, you're

         23  not familiar with that particular case.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I'm

         25  familiar with the case, certainly.  I can't respond
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          2  for the interaction between --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: For example,

          4  as that was mentioned earlier, that was reported,

          5  the crime on your data was reported at the corner of

          6  Roosevelt and Flushing Meadow, no, where was it

          7  reported at?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: No, the

          9  crime and I'm not 100 percent familiar with where

         10  that particular crime was reported.  If a crime

         11  occurs within a City park, it's recorded as within

         12  Parks Department property, okay?  When we put that

         13  up on a map, it's geo- coded to a location which is

         14  the intersection of two cross streets which are

         15  probably not within the park.  It's probably right

         16  on the corner.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: What happens

         18  if crime, for example, occurs like on a platform of

         19  a railroad station that's within your park?  Do you

         20  know about it and how do you record it?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         22  couldn't answer. I'm not positive.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Do you

         24  understand the question I'm asking you?  Like for

         25  example, in Flushing Meadow Park, the Long Island

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Railroad passes through there and that, so happened

          3  that rape actually took place in multiple locations

          4  within the park.  It was on the park property, then

          5  on the railroad tracks then -- but suppose, for

          6  example, someone was mugged on the Long Island

          7  Railroad tracks which runs through the park.  Would

          8  you have that data?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: I

         10  presume that we would.  I presume that we would and

         11  it would be recorded at that location.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay, thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         15  Council member. Just please wait around, Council

         16  Member Jennings, to have your vote recorded.  We're

         17  bringing somebody up.  We had a vote prior to this

         18  so don't leave and also -- will be recording your

         19  vote in a moment. For the last set of questions, I

         20  believe to this witness, Council Member Dilan.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair, for allowing me a second opportunity and it's

         23  just basically a follow up to some of Council Member

         24  Katz's questions and to your answers. I accept your

         25  answers to be truthful and to be fact.  I think that
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          2  you're being truthful when you say that you're

          3  having a problem pin mapping and I think that

          4  something that I can personally accept. If you say

          5  that you're having a problem, you know, I agree with

          6  that.

          7                 But I also, you know, want to

          8  reiterate that when that -- the purview of this

          9  bill's not asking for that and the reason why it's

         10  important is because there's several parks that span

         11  more than two jurisdictions, police precincts.

         12  There will be parks like in my district, Highland

         13  Park.  You have Flushing Meadow Park.  You have some

         14  other large parks in Brooklyn, certainly Central

         15  Park and those precincts -- all the crimes in those

         16  parks would be the way it's currently done now,

         17  would be sent out to all those specific precincts

         18  and it's not reflective of the crime that's really

         19  going on in such a park and that's why I think we

         20  want the data on a parks level and we just certainly

         21  hope that, you know, through this Committee hearing

         22  and through these discussions that we can find a

         23  mechanism outside of CompStat where we can have the

         24  data and I'll leave it there, Mr. Chairman, thank

         25  you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          3  Council member.  Let me just end up by saying our

          4  parks are obviously considered our safe havens and

          5  that's why we feel so strongly about this.  I was

          6  just in Alley Pond Park with my daughters last

          7  weekend walking and it's amazing how isolated you

          8  can get in a park like Alley Pond Park and a group

          9  was coming in the other direction and you realize,

         10  at that point, that there's no one else anywhere in

         11  the area and you need to trust in the safety of that

         12  park and that's why we're requesting this

         13  information but that being said, we understand that

         14  you both are doing the best job possible protecting

         15  us and we commend your use of Compstat and how

         16  effective that's been and we look forward to working

         17  with you in whatever way possible to get this

         18  information to the public so that we can all have it

         19  so thank you both for your time today.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MCCARTHY: Thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: As I said, we

         23  have about 18 witnesses to go.  We're going to have

         24  one come up alone.  Allison Farina from New Yorkers

         25  for Parks and after that we'll have panels and each
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          2  of the panel members will be limited to two minutes.

          3                 Ms. Farina, before you begin, I just

          4  want to take the vote from Council Member Jennings

          5  and Council Member Yassky. I'd like to call the vote

          6  please.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

          8  Jennings on Resolution 338- a, how do you vote?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I vote yes.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Yassky.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

         13  ten in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         14  abstentions.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Ms. Farina,

         16  thank you very much for being here and thank you for

         17  all the help that you gave my staff and myself prior

         18  to today and for your numerous reminders to have

         19  this hearing, to put it nicely.  Sometimes that's

         20  necessary, so thank you for coming down.  We look

         21  forward to your testimony.

         22                 MS. FARINA: Thank you as well,

         23  Council Member Vallone, Chairman Vallone.  Good

         24  afternoon, my name is Allison Farina- Van Nostrand.

         25  I am the Director of Government and Community
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          2  Affairs at New Yorkers for Parks, the City- wide

          3  parks advocacy organization working to bring

          4  increased parks services and safer parks and

          5  playgrounds to every New York City neighborhood.  I

          6  would like thank you once again, Chairman Vallone

          7  and the entire Public Safety Committee for hosting

          8  this very, very important hearing. I'm here today to

          9  strongly urge this Committee and the entire to

         10  Council to pass Intro 470.  I also want to thank the

         11  NYPD and the Parks Department for the fantastic job

         12  they're doing.  We're very glad to hear about the

         13  increased collaborative efforts between those two

         14  agencies.

         15                 Earlier this week, the New York Times

         16  reported that crime in subways rose slightly after

         17  six consecutive years of decline.  What's happening

         18  in parks and playgrounds, that's the question before

         19   -- it's about public information and public access

         20  to crimes in parks and the increasing isn't

         21  preventing people. This slight increase in crime

         22  isn't preventing people from using the subways,

         23  rather it's letting the public and government know

         24  where resources are needed.  Park users deserve the

         25  same information and protection as subway riders
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          2  have.

          3                 I'm here to tell you about the

          4  benefits of this legislation.  I think the benefits

          5  are worth looking at and passing this piece of

          6  legislation and outweigh the, what's been

          7  characterized as there not being enough crime in

          8  parks.

          9                 First of all, by tracking crime in

         10  parks and then making the results public, deployment

         11  of government resources, including our PEP officers

         12  which I'd like to commend their work. There aren't

         13  many of them but we're always advocating for funding

         14  more positions.  This particular allocation of

         15  resources will be efficient and crime prevention

         16  will be enhanced.

         17                 Second and very much of an important

         18  matter is that with these solid statistics made

         19  publicly available as to the amount and type of

         20  crime in a precinct, local park and community

         21  advocates will be more informed and can therefore

         22  voice their concern or praise about park safety in

         23  an accurate way.  Armed with information, park

         24  advocates are a second layer of protection for

         25  parks.  We heard earlier testimony from the Parks
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          2  Department that 55,000 parks supporters and

          3  volunteers come out every year to use parks

          4  regularly.  That's a wonderful thing and the

          5  Commissioner referred to -- these people could be

          6  extra sets of eyes and ears in our parks.

          7                 Behind me are thirty institutions and

          8  slash individuals that have come out today and or

          9  submitted testimony on this issue because they care

         10  about it and they feel that it's very important.

         11  They are a small group of people that represent all

         12  these other people that are constantly in parks and

         13  using parks.

         14                 Third, Intro 470 ensures and

         15  guarantees constant agency collaboration.  Over the

         16  last two years, the NYPD and the Parks Department,

         17  as I mentioned, have been working more closely

         18  together to fight crime in parks.  We applaud this

         19  effort.  We think it's great.  As a park promoter

         20  and protector, NY4P is as much interested in

         21  highlighting safe parks as we are in deterring crime

         22  from more precarious ones.  The next logical step is

         23  to formalize their efforts by regular reporting to

         24  you, the Council and the public.

         25                 Finally, the Inwood Park murder of
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          2  Sara Fox is reason alone to pass this legislation

          3  and I quote from the Metro paper on June 3rd, 2004,

          4   "an NYPD spokesperson confirmed that Fox's case was

          5  not recorded specifically as a homicide in Inwood

          6  Hill Park but as a homicide covered by Precinct 34."

          7                 The fact that this crime was not

          8  recorded as occurring in a park is shameful and we

          9  should never let this occur again.  Pass Intro 470

         10  now.  I ask you to do that on behalf of New Yorkers

         11  for Parks and our entire coalition and the people

         12  that are behind me that are going to yet testify.  I

         13  want to thank them. Some of them did have to leave

         14  and go back to work because of the time constraints

         15  and the lengthy amount of time, I guess, of these

         16  hearings.

         17                 I also want to just mention that New

         18  Yorkers for Parks has performed extensive research

         19  into park safety programs nationwide and this came

         20  up earlier in the hearing and we found that

         21  initiatives in Houston and Los Angeles provide

         22  excellent examples for New York City on how to

         23  increase park safety.  The Houston Police Department

         24  tracks crimes by type and location and perhaps if

         25  our own Police Department were to look and maybe
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          2  give a call into the Houston Police Department, see

          3  how they do that, we might be able to rectify or at

          4  least have some ways in which to interpret that data

          5  that we were talking about earlier and how to report

          6  that and get that out to the public.

          7                 Secondly, the Los Angeles Police

          8  Department has brought citizens into the process

          9  through a Safe Parks and Community Survey Program

         10  that is accessible via their website and enables

         11  anyone to register their opinions and concerns about

         12  park safety in neighborhood parks.  This is great.

         13  This is a great initiative.  It would be fantastic

         14  in New York.  It would involve these 55 volunteers

         15  that have, that is an ever increasing number and I

         16  just want to once again thank Council Member Vallone

         17  and the entire Pubic Safety Committee for hosting

         18  this very important hearing and I urge you to pass

         19  Intro 470 now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Allison.  I just want to apologize for the length of

         22  time it took us but that's a good thing because we

         23  normally don't have this many Council members at a

         24  hearing as you probably know.  This is how

         25  interested everybody is in this and they all had
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          2  questions.  If you have any more questions,

          3  Commissioner Kavanagh's still here.  You got kind of

          4  lucky because we had so many questions about good

          5  things though, PEP officers, what they do -- which

          6  we'll do on a different date -- but we wanted to

          7  make sure we heard from the public also so I want to

          8  apologize.

          9                 When we say we want this information

         10  to go to the public, we don't really envision people

         11  hitting the computer every time they go to a park.

         12  What we envision is groups like you doing the good

         13  work you do in keeping people informed about their

         14  parks. That's what we mean by that.  Does anyone

         15  have any questions?  No. Thank you, Allison, for

         16  coming down and then next panel will be Susan,

         17  whoever's still left, Susan Ryan of the Community of

         18  Inwood, Tamara, I'm sorry, it's hard to read the

         19  last name, but from the Inwood Runners, Grant

         20  McKeown -- my kids are half Irish but I'm not ---

         21  again from the Inwood Runners and J.A. Reynolds,

         22  finally, from the Parks Restoration Program.  Again,

         23  we hate to do this but each of you will be on a two

         24  minute timer so if I ask Jerry in the back to keep

         25  track of that.  Okay, why don't we just begin on my
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          2  right because that's a woman on that end.  I don't

          3  believe your mike is on.

          4                 MS. EWOLDT: Good afternoon, my name

          5  is Tamara Ewoldt. I've lived at 165 Seaman Avenue in

          6  Manhattan, which is in Inwood, since 1995.  I've

          7  lived in that neighborhood since 1991. My block is

          8  bordered by Inwood Hill Park and Isham Park.  I am

          9  the founder of the Inwood Runners which is a running

         10  group that formed out of the need for security

         11  following the murder of Sara Fox, a jogger in Inwood

         12  Hill Park and a resident of Inwood.

         13                 There is also a group of walkers we

         14  frequently run into.  We call them "the stick

         15  ladies" because they carry thick branches the size

         16  of baseball bats when they're out walking in the

         17  park.  It's a shame and a humiliation to have to

         18  conduct yourself as a potential victim while

         19  exercising in a City park.  But crime has motivated

         20  these acts of self- reliance as the only source of

         21  community empowerment and adjunct to safety since

         22  the crime units, detectives, the mounted police and

         23  bike patrols left long ago.

         24                 Through a network of runners, I have

         25  a resource for information about suspect activity in
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          2  the park.  We have shared a cautionary word about

          3  location of vagrants, drug users and past murders

          4  along the paths.  I appreciate the friends that I

          5  have made through this process and the greater sense

          6  of responsibility that I feel towards my neighbors.

          7  But my park is not a safe place, at least my

          8  perception that my park is not safe, is true.  I

          9  urge the passage of Intro 470 so that crimes

         10  committed within the 28,000 acres of City park space

         11  are granted significance by CompStat or a similar

         12  monitoring method.  Our parks should receive the

         13  same protections as other City spaces.  Analysis of

         14  crime statistics in City parks will help increase

         15  public participation in crime prevention, enable

         16  efficient allocation of resources, and improve park

         17  safety for all of us.

         18                 I also have gathered a petition of

         19  support for this measure signed by 52 users of

         20  Inwood Hill Park and Isham Park.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.  We

         22  have a copy of that.

         23                 MR. MCKEOWN: Hi, my name is Grant

         24  McKeown and I fully support the 470 legislation.  I

         25  live at 10 Park Terrace East in Manhattan adjacent
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          2  to Inwood Hill Park.  I am a 30 year resident of New

          3  York City.  I'm a Park Steward of Isham Hill Park

          4  and Bruce's Garden and a member of Inwood Runners

          5  and Walkers.

          6                 To begin,  I must say that frankly

          7  was appalled to learn of the piece- meal manner and

          8  procedure of crime recording in our City parks.  I

          9  believe that common sense would tell you that when

         10  parks crimes are systematically diluted into the

         11  statistics of adjacent police precincts, how are we

         12  to really determine the true security level in any

         13  of our City parks?  Inwood Runners and Walkers was

         14  begun as a consequence of the tragic murder of Sara

         15  Fox in Inwood Park.  Immediately following a

         16  community meeting attended by hundreds of concerned

         17  local residents with police and parks officials, the

         18  inability of law enforcement and parks officials at

         19  that meeting to offer any substantive reassurances

         20  as to the future of safety of Inwood Park was

         21  alarming.

         22                 I remember several of the

         23  unbelievable responses to our questions.  One was

         24  that they were bringing back the bald eagles and

         25  that would help security in Inwood Hill Park or that
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          2  putting up lights would just attract crime.  To say

          3  that their attitude was dismissive and void of

          4  solutions or real assistance to our community would

          5  be an understatement but it is the truth.

          6                 But I tell you, security is a

          7  priority to our City residents.  It is a priority to

          8  runners, walkers, bikers, ball players, tourists,

          9  moms, dads and especially their children.  A

         10  priority to everybody and the 470 legislation is a

         11  beginning.  It will be a beginning toward real

         12  accountability of the crimes in our parks and a true

         13  and honest assessment of the safety of our parks and

         14  consequently the best assurance of citizen's health

         15  and well being.  Council members, this is a no

         16  brainer.  Therefore I urge you all to unequivocally

         17  support this new legislation.

         18                 My thanks to Annamarie Jones of New

         19  Yorkers for Parks for her great work and assistance

         20  and my thanks to the Council for allowing me the

         21  opportunity to testify.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you and I

         23  believe your Inwood Group, you're already aware that

         24  your Council Member Robert Jackson is a sponsor of

         25  this bill and a huge impetus behind this hearing and

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  everything we're doing in this regard.

          3                 MR. MCKEOWN: Yes, indeed, I am.

          4  Thank you, Council.

          5                 MS. RYAN: The version that you have

          6  is shorter than what I have here so I will, I guess,

          7  do a speed through reading to make the time

          8  constraints.

          9                 My name is Susan Ryan.  I support the

         10  passing of Intro 470 because I believe it will be a

         11  strong step forward in helping to make our parks

         12  safer.  I'm a resident of Inwood which is in Council

         13  District Number 7, a district that has 707 acres of

         14  park land, making up some 38 percent of the

         15  district.  I am also the mother of a 15 month old

         16  boy named Dylan.  Dylan and I have been to almost

         17  all of the parks in northern Manhattan but we

         18  frequent Inwood Hill Park and Isham Park in

         19  particular.

         20                 Safety has always been a great

         21  concern for me but as you might well imagine, it has

         22  become an even greater concern since I have become a

         23  mother.  All of us here today are aware of the

         24  tragic murder of Sara Fox that took place this past

         25  May in Inwood Hill Park, a crime that to this day

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  remains unsolved.  After Sara Fox's murder, two Town

          3  Hall Meetings were held in our neighborhood. At both

          4  of these Town Hall Meetings, members of the Inwood

          5  Community were told that statistically, New York

          6  City Parks are safer than ever.  But how can these

          7  claims be accurate if there is no tracking of crimes

          8  in parks?

          9                 In addition to the more accurate

         10  tracking of crimes in parks, it seems to me that one

         11  of the benefits of Intro 470 would be the

         12  opportunity to create more avenues for dialog and

         13  information sharing between the Parks Department and

         14  Police Department about issues relating to park

         15  safety.

         16                 Oh, boy.  I recently had the

         17  opportunity to experience first hand the positive

         18  effects that can occur as a result of such

         19  information sharing.  This past September 29th, Mr.

         20  J. A. Reynolds of the Isham Park Restoration

         21  Program, Angelo Ortiz of Inwood Community Services

         22  and myself met with Deputy Inspector Kehoe and

         23  Detective Billy Hughes of the 34th Precinct to

         24  discuss issues relating to park safety.  Mr.

         25  Reynolds wanted to share the experience he and other
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          2  volunteers from Isham Park Restoration Program had

          3  when they were clearing out the underbrush by the

          4  Ginkgo Tree in Isham Park sometime earlier.  They

          5  had found numerous items in the thick underbrush

          6  that could possibly be related to criminal

          7  activities.

          8                 In addition, some of the shrubbery

          9  around the stairway to Isham Park had become so

         10  overgrown that we all had concerns that it could

         11  provide cover for anyone who might want to rob any

         12  pedestrian walking up the stairs.  We wondered if

         13  the Police Department might be able to encourage the

         14  Parks Department to better maintain the area from

         15  the standpoint of these and other safety concerns we

         16  mentioned.  While Deputy Inspector Kehoe didn't

         17  think that the Police Department had the authority

         18  to tell the Parks Department what to do in a

         19  situation like this, it was clear to all of us that

         20  Deputy Inspector Kehoe listened thoughtfully, valued

         21  our input and took our concerns seriously.

         22                 It was also apparent to Mr. Reynolds

         23  and Angelo Ortiz and myself that he did see how the

         24  landscape and topography of a park could have a

         25  relationship to the ability to facilitate criminal
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          2  activity.  I have a couple of paragraphs left, could

          3  I? Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Anyone ever tell

          5  you, you look like Cynthia Nixon?  I said sum them

          6  up.  I didn't say you have to end.  Sum up your last

          7  paragraphs.

          8                 MS. RYAN: Well, as it just so

          9  happened, two weeks later, on It's My Parks Day,

         10  while working alone by the Ginkgo Tree in Isham

         11  Park, Mr. Reynolds was approached by a mentally ill

         12  homeless person who threatened to kill him, the

         13  homeless man.  Mr. Reynolds said that when he looked

         14  around to see if anyone who might be able to help in

         15  were in the area, he saw that the bushes were so

         16  overgrown, that they blocked any potential sightline

         17  that would allow others in the park to see that he

         18  was in danger.

         19                 Shortly thereafter, Mr. Reynolds

         20  wrote to Commissioner William Castro, Parks

         21  Commissioner for the Borough of Manhattan, informing

         22  him of this incident with the homeless man. Mr.

         23  Reynolds cc'd Deputy Inspector Kehoe on the

         24  correspondence. This letter opened up a line of

         25  communication between the Police Department, the
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          2  Parks Department and the specific, about the

          3  specific parks safety issues we had raised with

          4  Deputy Inspector Kehoe.

          5                 On the morning of October 29th,

          6  Deputy Inspector Kehoe, Commissioner Castro and

          7  Shane Shackett, Director of Parks in northern

          8  Manhattan met at the Ginkgo Tree in Isham Park with

          9  Mr. Reynolds and other concerned members of the

         10  Inwood Community to discuss our concerns about the

         11  area's need for better maintenance. The shrubbery

         12  around the stairway was pruned and cut back that

         13  morning and other changes relating to our safety

         14  concerns were made as well

         15                 The kind of communication between the

         16  Parks Department, the Police Department and

         17  concerned members of the community that facilitated

         18  these necessary safety changes in Isham Park is the

         19  kind of communication necessary to increase safety

         20  in all our parks around the City.  In Council

         21  District 7 however, which has over 707 acres of park

         22  land, a large portion of which is underbrush, forest

         23  and thick vegetation.  The Parks Department and

         24  Police Department must do all they can to facilitate

         25  dialog and share information in order to ensure the

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  safety of our parks including mapping.

          3                 I would like to remind everyone here

          4  that it took six search parties six days to find the

          5  body of Sara Fox.  Members of the community must

          6  also take responsibility to work together with the

          7  Police Department, the Parks Department and our

          8  elected officials to ensure that this happens.  As a

          9  park- goer and a parent, I strongly encourage you to

         10  pass Intro 470 which will be a critical step forward

         11  in helping to lay the ground work for an improved

         12  infrastructure of communication between the Police,

         13  Parks and the Public.  Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you and so

         15  you all know, there is a representative of the

         16  Police Department here to hear your testimony and

         17  the Parks Commissioner, Deputy Commissioner is still

         18  here, which is very rare and just to clarify, you

         19  said how could we keep parks safe if there's no

         20  tracking of crimes?  There is tracking.  They know

         21  exactly where the crimes are.  It's just that we

         22  don't know so that's what we're concerned with

         23  today.  Yes, sir.

         24                 MR. REYNOLDS: My name is J.A.

         25  Reynolds and I have worked in Isham Park as a
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          2  volunteer for close to 40 years and I've seen many

          3  changes happen during that period of time.  When I

          4  first began the work with my wife and my son, who is

          5  now deceased in the World Trade Center, we worked

          6  very hard to clean up Isham Park and areas of the

          7  park where crime took place all the time.  They use

          8  the overgrown shrubbery, they use to hide their beer

          9  bottles and their beer kegs and in the evening they

         10  partied all night long in the park.

         11                 But with the help of the Police

         12  Department, 34th Precinct, they joined in with us in

         13  working and teaching and educating and the park

         14  began to change and the attitude of the kids began

         15  to change and a lot of the crime disappeared for a

         16  long period of time.  Then it started coming back

         17  again because the overgrowth, the brush and all that

         18  became a harbor for criminal activity for drugs.  It

         19  became a hang out for homeless people on warm summer

         20  nights.  So finally, we got the Parks Department and

         21  Police Department, once again, as Susan Ryan just

         22  explained to you to come back into the picture and

         23  to help us clear up.

         24                 So what I want to say is this.  It's

         25  very important that the Police and the Parks
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          2  Department work together and that the Police have

          3  the right to come into the park and suggest to the

          4  Parks Department, this area must be cleared out.

          5  This must be manicured.  This must be landscaped so

          6  that the sight- lines are clear and these people go

          7  away.  At the moment, we have no homeless people in

          8  Isham Park at all so it's not because of the cold.

          9  They would be there anyway but because of these

         10  people who've all, all of us have worked very hard

         11  together for the last year.

         12                 I would like to see the Police

         13  Department and the Parks Department form an alliance

         14  and work together to not only protect Isham Park but

         15  all the parks, particularly Inwood Hill Park.  It

         16  really is not safe up there at all.  It needs to be

         17  manicured.  It needs to be made to look like Central

         18  Park and that can be done.  Take care.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you all

         20  for your support and for, more for your suggestions

         21  which  we will take into account as we work on this

         22  bill so thank you for coming down.  The next panel

         23  will be St. Clair Clement from the East Harlem

         24  International, Witold Rak R- A- K and Jean Silva and

         25  also, Charles Monaco, if you're still in the room.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

          3  The Chair just needed to excuse himself so you can

          4  start with your testimony.  We appreciate you taking

          5  the time to be here and most importantly waiting.

          6  I'll remind you that you have two minutes and we can

          7  start right on this end.  Can you start by saying

          8  your name and affiliation for the record, please?

          9                 MR. CLEMENT: For the record, my name

         10  is St. Clair Clement.  My affiliation is East Harlem

         11  International Fencing Club. We do fencing programs

         12  in City parks.  We've been doing that for quite a

         13  few years.  The proclamation that's been sent that

         14  you're receiving now was from 1997, correction '94.

         15  That's how long we've been working with programs --

         16  since '86 for this gentleman here.

         17            What we do as a developing program for the

         18  Parks Department, we have a double edged sword

         19  because number one, we work with weapons with kids

         20  and adults in learning the art of fencing and it

         21  would be very helpful to us as we develop programs

         22  positively for the public to use in the parks is to

         23  work more closely with the Parks Department.

         24  Instead of working against us, in terms of

         25  developing positive programs for the citizens in our
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          2  community, instead of working against us as we're

          3  working with the Police and with the kids, we find

          4  that we are in support of this program, that you do

          5  vote for it.  We are very much in support of that.

          6                 One of the reasons is, if we're

          7  running a positive program and we know that there's

          8  a considerable crime going on in the area and it is

          9  posted.  When we manage a program there, we look for

         10  the postings to find out what's going on in that

         11  community in terms of the crime.  This way we keep

         12  all the kids and the adults that come to our program

         13  safe.

         14                 So what you have here, in brief, is a

         15  overview of the kind of program that we use working

         16  with children, teenagers and adults and particularly

         17  with teenagers and children.  We're very concerned

         18  about their safety.  So in brief, that's one of our

         19  concerns here and with respect to what was said

         20  about using the graphing in terms of the mapping.

         21  It's a very possible thing that can be done

         22  computerized.  I've done this with the United States

         23  Army and I encourage that you do that.  I support

         24  the program.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you very
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          2  much.  Next sir, thank you.

          3                 MR. RAK: Hi, thank you for allowing

          4  us to speak.  My name is Witold Rak.  I'm co-

          5  founder of the East Harlem International Fencing

          6  Club, also a former Community Board member on the

          7  Youth Committee and a former Olympic Alumni in the

          8   '84 and '96 Olympics.

          9                 Number one, I don't understand how

         10  they can't use PEP officers to increase PEP officers

         11  just like they do in New York State Parks.  I think

         12  that's one way to go and I also encourage and I

         13  support this police and that the parks get together.

         14    It seems to me that they danced around here for

         15  half an hour and we weren't clear at all of their

         16  mapping.  Parks should and have exactly where the

         17  parks are and the sites and where is what's

         18  happening in case they have a work order.

         19                 Next, we were doing the fencing

         20  programs in Thomas Jefferson Park since 1986.

         21  Thomas Jefferson Park, in 1986, was a slum infested,

         22  drug infested park and because of Friends of Thomas

         23  Jefferson then they finally got it together and they

         24  took all them out.  They should have PEP officers in

         25  all of the parks because I think they also
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          2  overburden the police to get involved too but the

          3  police should be involved but there should be more

          4  PEP officers just like a regular force.

          5                 Bush in the address that he gave,

          6  President Bush in the address that he gave, he

          7  encouraged youth programs and he encouraged all this

          8  stuff that St. Clair and myself are involved with so

          9  I would encourage the City of New York to continue

         10  that.

         11                 Now, in 1986, we also wanted

         12  Councilman Phil Reed to support us in the

         13  continuation of our fencing program and we didn't

         14  get a good response from him.  Any questions?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Sir, we'll go

         16  with the, you testify and once we finish with the

         17  panel, we'll have questions if my colleagues have

         18  any.

         19                 MR. MONACO: Good afternoon.  I'm

         20  Charles Monaco, founder of the Highland Park

         21  Community Advocates and Bulwer Place Block

         22  Association as well as former Outreach Director for

         23  Brooklyn Center for the Urban Environment and

         24  Prospect Park Environmental Center.  Today, I

         25  testify representing 50 years of park based
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          2  experience as a child growing up next to a park and

          3  as an adult resident and community and professional

          4  educator and activist.  I have lived, worked or

          5  related to Prospect Park in Brooklyn, Riverside Park

          6  in Manhattan and Highland Park in Brooklyn/Queens

          7  for my entire life.  I speak for over 200 community

          8  residents and volunteers that participate in

          9  activities, the advocates whose mission it is to

         10  improve Highland Park and the reservoirs in

         11  surrounding areas of Brooklyn/Queens through

         12  advocacy and community action.

         13                 First of all, parks are critical

         14  places for citizens and families to enjoy to release

         15  from the stresses of the City and it is an essential

         16  part of our life as individuals and for our

         17  community well- being.

         18                 Secondly, the problem of split police

         19  jurisdiction in many large New York City parks,

         20  particularly in Highland Park, between two

         21  precincts, the 74th and 104th, which brings it

         22  across two different boroughs is further exacerbated

         23  by lack of crime tracking and information.  Many

         24  residents have given up reporting crime or going to

         25  the park due to lack of coordinated presence of the
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          2  police or effective response.

          3                 Thirdly, in Highland Park, all-

          4  terrain vehicles, motorcycles, large motorized dirt

          5  bikes travel unhampered at speeds over 30 miles per

          6  hour with up to 15 vehicles spotted on any of the

          7  pedestrian paths, picnic, playing fields, wooded

          8  hillsides where they have destroyed vegetation,

          9  eroded hillsides and have driven away the sensitive

         10  wildlife.  There is a regular speedway on the

         11  bicycle path along the Ridgewood Reservoirs which is

         12  also a natural resource area.

         13                 In closing, the lack of police, DPR

         14  personnel including only one park enforcement patrol

         15  for one, every 256 acres.  In Upper Highland, the

         16  drop of use of the residents due to the out of

         17  control atmosphere and overall in closing, I very

         18  much urge you to take a firm stand to improve the

         19  safety and quality of life and increase the

         20  security, police, UPR and PEP personnel deployed in

         21  New York City's parks.

         22                 I have my complete testimony in front

         23  of you.  I'm sorry for the rush but that's what you

         24  said -- the self forum is the best I could under the

         25  short circumstances.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: No, thank you.

          3                 MR. MONACO: I'd be happy to take any

          4  questions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: We do have the

          6  written testimony.  Do you have a statement?  Okay.

          7  Grab the mike.  There you go.

          8                 MS. SILVA: Thank you.  My name is

          9  Jean Silva and I'm the Commissioner of the New York

         10  Women's Sports League that is celebrating it's 30th

         11  year this year in Lower Manhattan and I'm here in

         12  support of the bill because dealing in sports, you

         13  couldn't have any records unless you had numbers and

         14  we need these numbers of what's going on in our

         15  parks.  Not to point and accuse agencies of not

         16  doing their jobs, just find out where we need more

         17  police and more watching over the different parks

         18  and I thank you for letting me come to testify

         19  today.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you for

         21  taking the time to testify.  We, Council Member

         22  Jackson has a question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.  I

         24  was trying to listen to the testimony concerning the

         25  two gentlemen there.  You represent groups in East
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          2  Harlem that deals with fencing, am I correct?  And

          3  you use the parks, what parks do you use

          4  specifically in order to, for fencing or what parks

          5  are closely aligned to where you're working at?

          6                 MR. CLEMENT: Yes, we were using the

          7  East, Thomas Jefferson Park until they kicked us out

          8  and they used the police to kick us out, believe it

          9  or not.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         11                 MR. CLEMENT: That was very

         12  frustrating.  When we work with kids, we also

         13  encourage kids to learn self- control, self

         14  development and respect for one another using a

         15  weapon such as you see in the picture there, like a

         16  saber and foils (phonetic).

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

         18                 MR. CLEMENT: And also, we encourage

         19  these kids to go to college and we also, because of

         20  our contact with coaches in colleges throughout the

         21  United States, we also give endorsements.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So you were

         23  using the parks, mainly during the spring or fall

         24  or?

         25                 MR. CLEMENT: No, we were using it all
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          2  year at the time that we were there for about 10, 12

          3  years.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, you

          5  currently do not use the park because you are not

          6  allowed or what?

          7                 MR. CLEMENT: Yes, currently we do not

          8  use the park because at that point in time, whoever

          9  was the manager decided to, instead of using the

         10  space for recreation for kids, they use it for

         11  dumbbells and weight lifting so we lost all of that

         12  site which was available for kids in that community

         13  and there's a housing project right next to it --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

         15                 MR. CLEMENT: -- Thomas Jefferson

         16  Projects.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, if, have

         18  you requested through a permit process to utilize

         19  the parks for fencing, you know, like we have

         20  baseball leagues --

         21                 MR. CLEMENT: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: -- Where

         23  they're permitted to use and softball leagues and

         24  other activities in the park.  Have you requested --

         25                 MR. CLEMENT: We have not only
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          2  requested that, we've even went to court to secure

          3  the space in terms of the legitimate legal use for

          4  our program.  So we not only go through that process

          5   --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You went to

          7  court.

          8                 MR. CLEMENT: -- Oh, yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And what did

         10  the court decide?

         11                 MR. CLEMENT: The court decided that

         12  the Parks Department should be working with us to

         13  assist in the program. They never did.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now have some

         15  of your, my daughter went to the Dwight School --

         16                 MR. CLEMENT: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: -- Do you

         18  know the Dwight School?  And I believe that some of

         19  the students from your program have entered the

         20  Dwight School, if I'm not mistaken?

         21                 MR. CLEMENT: No doubt.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And my

         23  understanding and, in fact, I was at the, they had

         24  the Activity Day this past Saturday and there was a

         25  demonstration, fencing demonstration --
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          2                 MR. CLEMENT: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: -- And I do

          4  know that several of the students and coaches from

          5  the Dwight School have come up through the East

          6  Harlem/Harlem Fencing Program and are Olympians.

          7  Olympians.

          8                 MR. CLEMENT: That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And are in

         10  some of the most competitive schools in the country,

         11  Columbia and what have you and so forth.

         12                 MR. CLEMENT: Absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So I know

         14  that you run a good, an excellent program as far as

         15  developing young leaders for our country.

         16                 MR. CLEMENT: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And as far as

         18  being, displaying their activities at the Olympics

         19  and also in just leadership positions.  I mean, I've

         20  seen it with my own eyes so I wanted just to say

         21  that to you to compliment you on it and as far as

         22  the issue, as far as using the park, I think that

         23  the parks should be used for all types of activities

         24  that are legitimate and obviously, the

         25  Commissioner's here.
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          2                 I guess I will follow up with maybe

          3  you and the Commissioner.  I think that is

          4  appropriate in order to expose other people that

          5  fencing is an opportunity as far as a recreational

          6  sport and also it's recognized by the International

          7  Olympics Committee as a sport.

          8                 MR. CLEMENT: We are members of the

          9  United States Fencing Association with credentials

         10  to that point.  We also have something like $3

         11  million worth insurance where ever we are fencing

         12  and even though, we are both continuing our fencing

         13  in our own individual site, we did not, we did not

         14  end our relationship with the East Harlem

         15  International Fencing.

         16                 We're still on the website as East

         17  Harlem International Fencing and our commitment to

         18  that is one of the reasons why we were at Thomas

         19  Jefferson and just like you said, fencing is a very

         20  expensive sport.  We wanted to make it available to

         21  the inner city and you're absolutely right, I've

         22  been involved with fencing with one of the most

         23  prestigious private schools in the City of New York

         24  and I just left them as of this past June and I was

         25  training those little kids who have all the wealth
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          2  in the world and they have succeeded and they grew

          3  with fencing but I continue my program in the inner

          4  City.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I want to

          6  thank you for coming and giving testimony and I did

          7  not, I assume that you agree with Intro 470, is that

          8  correct?

          9                 MR. CLEMENT: We support it totally.

         10  As a matter of fact, I was very frustrated in terms

         11  of the kinds of answers that you were receiving.  I

         12  was in the United States Army in Germany and I was

         13  charged with plotting the rounds that were landing

         14  using grid coordinates in territories where troops

         15  were supposed to traverse without being damaged so

         16  I'm very familiar with the grid coordinates plotting

         17  that can be done and my frustration with listening

         18  to what they were saying that they could not deliver

         19  a grid coordinates mapping of the City parks, to me

         20  was the most frustrating thing for me to sit still

         21  so you were asking very good questions.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         25  Any other questions?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Just to say

          3  that in all fairness, I also believe that they can

          4  do it but in all fairness to the Police and Parks

          5  Departments, they don't have the resources of the

          6  United States Army but do I believe they can do it?

          7  I believe there's a mechanism in which it could be

          8  created so that we can achieve a common goal.  I

          9  just wanted to state to the Committee some of the

         10  testimonies submitted by Mr. Monaco, who also

         11  happens to be a constituent, just highlights, you

         12  know, some of the problems of parks that are between

         13  police precincts and to my knowledge this is the

         14  only park that's between two counties.  I know there

         15  are several parks within the system that are between

         16  several police commands and if the data, like I said

         17  before to the Deputy Commissioner McCarthy, if the

         18  data goes to the local commands, it doesn't

         19  accurately reflect the crime patterns in parks and

         20  in my opinion, that's why we need this bill.  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 MR. RAK: Just one comment, you mean

         25  to tell me that parks don't have a grid system in
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          2  parks in New York City where they're parks are and

          3  how they're laid out and who is where.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: That's not what

          5  I said.  I said they don't have the resources --

          6                 MR. RAK: The resources, I know.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: -- The

          8  resources of the United States Army.

          9                 MR. RAK: Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I didn't say

         11  anything else.

         12                 MR. RAK: Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         14                 MR. RAK: It's unacceptable to me.

         15                 MR. CLEMENT: I did that by hand.  It

         16  was no mechanical computerization that did the

         17  plotting of the rounds.  I looked at the map, the

         18  grid coordinates on the map and plotted over a

         19  thousand jobs.  This can be done.

         20                 MR. RAK: Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         22  Our next panel is Catherine Greene- Manzi, I think

         23  that's how the last name is, Joseph Garber, Al

         24  Quinones and Brad Taylor.  Thank you.  We'll start

         25  from my right, your left.
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          2                 MR. QUINONES: Good afternoon, let me

          3  begin by thanking Councilman Vallone and I'm so glad

          4  that the Councilwoman is here.  First let me testify

          5  in support of this very important bill.  My name is

          6  Al Quinones.  I represent the oldest park volunteer

          7  organization in the Bronx.  52 People for Progress,

          8  Incorporated.

          9                 My intention for testifying today is

         10  to give you an idea of the importance of why this

         11  bill must be enacted into law. Since 1980 until

         12  present, I have been documenting all the volunteer

         13  work as well as the crimes and vandalisms that have

         14  occurred at 52 Park on Kelly Street in the Hunts

         15  Point/Long Wood section of the Bronx.  Our records

         16  of these quality of life crimes are extremely

         17  accurate but cannot be confirmed because of the lack

         18  of any reporting by the Department of Parks that in

         19  turn would exclude the NYPD.  In fact, as far as the

         20  DPR/NYPD are concerned, none of these crimes

         21  happened at 52 Park.

         22                 Let me give you just a few examples

         23  of what I'm talking about.  On October 21st, 1996,

         24  four sprinkler caps as big as a dinner plate were

         25  stolen along with additional pipes from our water
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          2  fountain.  To steal these plates, you have to tear

          3  them off the concrete fixture they were bolted on.

          4  On November 19th, 1996, a fire was set to eight bags

          5  of leaves near the ramp entrance which in turn

          6  burned and ruined a freshly painted wall.  In the

          7  year 1997, January 27th, we discovered a London

          8  Planetree was mauled through up to the bark by

          9  pitbull.  On March of '97, I arrived at 52 Park to

         10  find a heroin free market while the Parks Department

         11  employee was taking a nap.  Sales were consistent.

         12  On January 5th, 1998, someone entered the men's room

         13  and threw green paint all over the floor and

         14  toilets.  On July 21st of '01, two park benches were

         15  vandalized behind the park house.  The slats were

         16  torn off the benches and on February 9th of 2002,

         17  two trees were vandalized. One was snapped in half.

         18  The other was pulled from it's roots from the

         19  ground.

         20                 These are just a few of the crimes

         21  that have occurred in 52 Park.  Most of them were

         22  dealt by putting work orders and others weren't even

         23  known to the DPR unless we told them and 99 percent

         24  of them were never reported to the NYPD.  So as far

         25  as everybody's concerned, 52 Park is a safe crime
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          2  free playground that you should bring your child to

          3  but the real story is that during the evening hours,

          4  52 Park is a recreational facility to use drugs,

          5  commit vandalism and destroy the quality of life in

          6  that community.

          7                 For the past 25 years, I've seen what

          8  goes on and I know the importance of signing bill

          9  470 into law.  It would alleviate the bad element

         10  and would record the patterns of which persistent

         11  playgrounds especially during the evening hours.  I

         12  appeal to the City Council to make this happen for

         13  all my volunteers work will not go in vain and let

         14  me just add one thing, I know my time is up but,

         15  sector cars that come around my community don't go

         16  into my park.  They never go into my park.  I'll

         17  never get a sector car to get out of the car, police

         18  car, and walk into my park and see what's going on,

         19  first thing.

         20                 Second thing, we, last year, tried to

         21  sit down with the Parks Department and the Police

         22  Department so we can close our park in the evening

         23  time.  We wanted them to close it so the Parks

         24  Department said, "Well, we can't handle that, that's

         25  a police issue."  The Police Department said, "Oh,
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          2  we can't handle it, it's a parks issue."  And then

          3  they all ganged up and said, "Well, you guys do it.

          4  You're the volunteers.  You close it."  I have no

          5  authority to close a park and tell somebody, "you

          6  gotta get out."

          7                 I just want to let you know that

          8  sometimes the crimes that you're talking about, the

          9  massive crimes that we're talking about, murder,

         10  there's a lot of little crimes that go on in parks

         11  that you don't even hear about and you're never

         12  going to hear about them because they're not going

         13  to be reported.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         15  Next.

         16                 MR. GARBER: Good afternoon.  My name

         17  is Joseph Garber.  I'm a civic activist.  I

         18  heartedly support Intro 470. Years ago the New York

         19  City Police Department had a unit called the Extra

         20  Department Liaison Section that was specifically

         21  delegated to serve as liaison with the Parks

         22  Department.  Now, in addition, there's a Patrol

         23  Guide Procedure which indicates, whenever a crime

         24  occurs on park property, a copy of the complaint

         25  report has to be sent to the New York City
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          2  Department of Parks, so that's another way that the

          3  data's available.

          4                 Now, let me speak a few moments about

          5  Commissioner McCarthy's testimony.  I listened with

          6  great interest about CompStat which I do have an

          7  intimate knowledge of.  Okay, it's interesting that

          8  he brought up the issue of quality of life.  I

          9  happen to live in the 90th Precinct which is, in

         10  Brooklyn, commanded by Captain John Coldasero

         11  (phonetic).  Unfortunately, when I -- quality of

         12  life conditions to him relative to parking,

         13  motorcycles parked on bus stop, etcetera, he doesn't

         14  want to handle it so I'm curious, Deputy

         15  Commissioner McCarthy said that quality of life is

         16  investigated and evaluated at CompStat, so I want to

         17  see if it's, in reality, true.

         18                 Now, he also mentioned the

         19  detectives, the precinct commander may have not told

         20  the detective how to respond to a case. For the

         21  record, except in Staten Island, which is a hybrid

         22  borough, a precinct detective squad does not report

         23  to the precinct commander.  It reports to detective

         24  borough commander concerned so a precinct commander

         25  would not have any jurisdiction over a detective
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          2  squad.  So that's interesting that he brought it up

          3  as a scenario that may not occur but I wonder, for

          4  the record, make it clear that a precinct detective

          5  does not report to the precinct commander.  Thank

          6  you.

          7                 MS. GREENE-MANZI: Good afternoon.  I

          8  am the president of the Coalition for the South

          9  Beach Pond Park Preserve and Friends of Ocean Breeze

         10  Park.  I also submitted twenty copies and I'm

         11  representing also Clay Pit Pond Park and

         12  Bloomingdale Park. I'm the president of the

         13  Coalition for the South Beach Pond Park Preserve and

         14  Friends of Ocean Breeze Park.  We're an organization

         15  made up of five of the largest conservation

         16  organizations on Staten Island.  We are actively

         17  involved in protecting and preserving our wetlands

         18  and open spaces, advocating for bluebelts and park

         19  protection, promoting, educating and developing

         20  resources to improve our community parks and

         21  neighborhoods on Staten Island.

         22                 Behind this testimony I'm giving, you

         23  will also see a copy behind this testimony, a letter

         24  written to Citizens of New York City asking for

         25  those very resources.  It lacks communication and
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          2  awareness about parks and also about the police and

          3  the difference between the Police Department and the

          4  PEP police.

          5                 I would like to thank the Council for

          6  holding this hearing in an effort to enforce

          7  tracking crimes in parks.  Our organization works

          8  closely with many civic organizations and park

          9  groups and we will encourage the communities of

         10  Staten Island to support our efforts when we say

         11  pass Intro 470.

         12                 Documenting crimes that occur in

         13  parks will provide security within the communities

         14  that utilize our open spaces and strengthen police

         15  efforts on the urgency of it's importance in each

         16  community.  With this information, we can

         17  effectively and clearly understand how we can

         18  improve our resources and at the same time, ensure

         19  public safety.

         20                 Our streets, neighborhoods and parks

         21  are all important.  Protecting the public requires

         22  knowledge about all our surroundings.  Our parks

         23  should not be places for crime to happen without

         24  awareness or future plans for improvements.  We have

         25  enclosed pictures of all illegal activities that
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          2  happen in parks on Staten Island.  Thank you.

          3                 MR. TAYLOR: Thank you.  My name is

          4  Brad Taylor.  I'm Vice President of Friends of

          5  Morningside Park and I really appreciate some of the

          6  questions that the Council members have asked today,

          7  especially the ones about relying on people's word

          8  versus getting the facts out to the public and also

          9  the comments that were elicited from the Deputy

         10  Commissioner about how perception is so important in

         11  our parks and our park is one that really knows

         12  about perceptions because there's been a bad

         13  perception of our park that's persisted over many

         14  years.  Just a few nights ago, someone referred to

         15  it, in my presence, as "Muggingside Park".

         16                 Now, Friends of Morningside has been

         17  in existence since 1982 and we've been working to

         18  advocate for this park and we've seen tremendous

         19  changes and we work with the Parks Department.  We

         20  work with our local precinct.  We go to the precinct

         21  Council.  We do all the right things and there've

         22  been vast improvements in our park but there's still

         23  a perception. There's a perception out there in the

         24  public and what we need to combat that perception

         25  are the facts.  We need the public to be able to
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          2  say, "I went to the police, to the website and I

          3  went here and I got a report that really told me

          4  what's happened in this park, not just last month

          5  but over time."  They're not just going to take the

          6  word of an advocacy group like mine.  They want to

          7  see facts and this intro is exactly the way to start

          8  that process.

          9                 In the time remaining, I'd just like

         10  to read a little.  I've submitted some written

         11  testimony.  Our park, of course, is of great

         12  significance in the City.  As the City grew around

         13  it, economic and ethnic differences between our

         14  communities bordering the park, grew as well and

         15  this created, often misunderstandings and

         16  suspicions.  Perhaps more so than any other park in

         17  Manhattan, ours has borne the psychological and

         18  physical scars of those attitudes  As some may

         19  remember, Columbia actually took over part of the

         20  park and wanted to build a gym there.  So an

         21  essential first step in combatting crime in our park

         22  is getting a realistic picture of the extent of the

         23  problem and I fully support your efforts to do that.

         24

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you very
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          2  much, all of you, for your support and for your

          3  comments.  We will be using that in the future and

          4  we look forward to seeing you down here again. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 Next, I believe and last panel will

          7  be Paul Sawyer of Friends of Van Cortlandt Park,

          8  Tyrone Hedgermond, Bronx Coalition for Parks and

          9  Green Spaces and Haja Worley, Community Board Ten.

         10  Thank you, gentlemen, for coming down today.  Why

         11  don't we begin with the gentleman on my right?

         12  Please identify yourself.

         13                 MR. WORLEY: Good afternoon.  My name

         14  is Haja Worley and I'm Chairman of the Parks and

         15  Recreation Committee for Community Board Ten in

         16  Manhattan, as well as being co- director of Project

         17  Harmony, Incorporated, a not- for- profit community-

         18  based organization.  I'd just like to say I've lived

         19  in Manhattan since 1978.  Over the years, I've spent

         20  many enjoyable moments in a few of the many parks in

         21  Manhattan.

         22                 I can remember, though, when parks

         23  like Morningside, Jackie Robinson and Marcus Garvey

         24  were havens for drug dealers while robbery and rape

         25  occurred frequently.  Although I have witnessed a
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          2  transformation in many respects, in the parks over

          3  the past few years, I have never seen statistics on

          4  the increase or decrease of crime rates in the park

          5  system at large nor am I aware of such statistics

          6  for individual parks.  It seems to me that the

          7  tracking of crime incidents in the parks would be an

          8  effective and invaluable way to assess and ensure

          9  public safety and security.

         10                 Before we send our children into the

         11  parks and before our family and friends go there for

         12  recreation, we deserve to know what the risk factors

         13  are rather than simply to rely on hearsay.  Such

         14  tracking would seem to me to be a reasonable

         15  undertaking considering the advances in technology

         16  and the expertise of the New York City Police

         17  Department.

         18                 Therefore, I urge the members of the

         19  Council to pass Intro 470.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         21                 MR. HEDGERMOND: Good afternoon.  My

         22  name is Tyrone Hedgermond.  I'm an Outreach

         23  Coordinator for Bronx Coalition for Parks and Green

         24  Spaces as headed by a steering committee in which

         25  Paul Sawyer, to the right of me, is on that steering
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          2  committee.  We have members from each community

          3  district represented in this Coalition.  We are a

          4  borough- wide coalition of over 50 membership

          5  organizations working on behalf of Bronx residents

          6  to promote, educate, advocate and develop resources

          7  for Bronx parks and green spaces.

          8                 I would like to thank the Council for

          9  holding this hearing and their diligent efforts to

         10  enforce tracking crime in parks.  I represent the

         11  voice of thousands of Bronx residents and hundreds

         12  of civic organizations when I say pass Intro 470.

         13                 Documenting crimes that occur in

         14  parks will empower communities with the data and

         15  information necessary towards urban planning and

         16  development.  It will also effectively support needs

         17  for resources.  Moreover, New York City parks can be

         18  truly assessed for safety.  Some Bronx parks are

         19  poorly funded and poorly maintained.  Lighting

         20  fixtures that protect at night are dim and make many

         21  areas privy for assault, drug use and other

         22  mischievous behavior.

         23                 We, at the Bronx Coalition for Parks

         24  and Green Spaces, believe it's about community in

         25  parks and safety in parks makes for a safer
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          2  community.  Thank you.

          3                 MR. SAWYER: My name is Paul Sawyer.

          4  I'm from the, I'm Executive Director of the Friends

          5  of Van Cortlandt Park.  Van Cortlandt Park is the

          6  third largest park in the City and we are covered

          7  actually by three different precincts.  The five-

          8  oh, the five- two and the four- seven.  The park

          9  essentially is actually divided by three different

         10  parks, excuse me, three different highways creating

         11  different kinds of neighborhoods and parks in the

         12  different areas.

         13                 This bill is critical for Van

         14  Cortlandt simply because the park is so large.  The

         15  park is so incredibly large it is incredibly

         16  difficult as they were talking about in terms of

         17  saying what avenue and certain things happen.  It is

         18  very, very difficult to determine within all the

         19  woodlands and the wetlands and the natural areas

         20  that currently exist within the park where a crime

         21  would actually happen.

         22                 Also, Friends groups are asked on-

         23  goingly to be the eyes and ears of the park.  Tell

         24  us what is going on.  I've had residents walk into

         25  my office and we are there five days a week, nine to
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          2  five, residents come to us and tell us what the

          3  crimes are because they can't find police to report

          4  these things to and although cell phones are privy,

          5  everybody does not have one.

          6                 This bill would make a tremendous

          7  difference, not only in terms of crimes on the

          8  perimeter of the park but especially in parks that

          9  have very large wetlands and natural areas where

         10  they're happening within the park.  There are

         11  several buildings that can be mapped but many of the

         12  woods, many of the woodlands, similar to Inwood Park

         13  as well, you just can't map that area. People have

         14  to know where these different areas are happening.

         15  We have a website.  We have newsletters.  Once

         16  again, sometimes I don't know if a, excuse me, crime

         17  happens in the park, on the perimeter of the park

         18  unless I read it in the Riverdale Press or the

         19  Norwood News.

         20                 We need these statistics.  These are

         21  statistics that we can post on our own website.

         22  These are statistics that we could post on the

         23  website that the Bronx Coalition is currently

         24  developing so people know what different types of

         25  crimes and things are happening in the various
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          2  parks.  So we ask, the Bronx has the first largest

          3  park, Pelham Bay and the third largest park Van

          4  Cortlandt, within it's borders.  This is tremendous

          5  for this borough.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you all.

          7  One of my best friends lives across the street from

          8  Van Cortlandt so I'm very familiar with that one so

          9  thank you all for waiting to this hour to testify.

         10  Mr. Jackson?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You mentioned

         12  the first largest and the third --

         13                 MR. SAWYER: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: -- But you

         15  didn't mention the second.

         16                 MR. SAWYER: I'm sorry.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What is the

         18  second?

         19                 MR. SAWYER: Flushing Meadow --.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Okay, I just

         21  wanted to know.

         22                 MR. SAWYER: Flushing Meadow --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But also, I

         24  appreciate you coming and all three of you giving

         25  testimony.  I think your example of Van Cortlandt
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          2  Park where it's three precincts and you cross

          3  country and you know, you go across country and you

          4  get --

          5                 MR. SAWYER: In those woods and let me

          6  not forget Yonkers.  Yonkers is just to the north so

          7  we're dealing even with, if someone commits a crime

          8  in Yonkers or the Yonkers side of the park and they

          9  run into the park or they take someone from Yonkers

         10  and bring them into Van Cortlandt Park.  That's

         11  another -- and it's the same way in Pelham Bay.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And that's

         13  why I think it's so important to map, to pinpoint

         14  where the crimes in the parks so then the forces,

         15  the friends or whoever can focus on that area and

         16  determine well how are we going to deal with the

         17  crime in that particular area?  Do we need to put

         18  more light poles in that area?

         19                 MR. SAWYER: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And run more

         21  infrastructure in there or whatever.

         22                      MR. SAWYER: Correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You know

         24  those type of determinations have to be made.

         25  Obviously you can consult, assuming that the crimes
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          2  are reported --

          3                 MR. SAWYER: Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: -- First of

          5  all, and if you sit down with the commanding

          6  officer, I mean, groups like yourself may be able to

          7  talk and explore that but the average individual, if

          8  they wanted to go in to see what type of crimes are

          9  occurring and where they are occurring at, it cannot

         10  happen.

         11                 MR. SAWYER: It would be great if

         12  someone who's a dogwalker could look at our website

         13  and know if they wanted to walk their dog in that

         14  area, they might be going into a "hot zone."

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yeah, they

         16  might be.

         17                 MR. SAWYER: That's critical.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now,

         19  Community Board Ten which covers Harlem, that Jackie

         20  Robinson Park, sits square in the middle of my

         21  district and so, you know, I, what's your name

         22  again? I'm sorry.

         23                 MR. WORLEY: My name is Haja Worley.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, you're

         25  on the Board. You're the Chair of the Parks
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          2  Committee.  Good.  Okay.  Thank you all for coming

          3  in and giving testimony.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Again, thank you

          5  for waiting to this hour and thank you, Council

          6  Member Jackson for staying here until the very end

          7  of this hearing and showing how important this is to

          8  you and thank you for all of your help.  I will now

          9  adjourn this hearing and look forward to seeing you

         10  back here again.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 3:45 p.m.)

         12

         13  Written Testimony of:

         14  John Semich

         15                 I, John Semich, have been working to

         16  improve Bloomingdale Park from 1998.  In that

         17  period, I have come across and reported many types

         18  of problems to a far too small Parks Enforcement

         19  staff.  Often, I have gotten on the phone, "What

         20  borough are you calling about?" Then stated the park

         21  and the borough and told that it would be a while

         22  before anyone could show up.

         23                 For years, the park was the site

         24  where poachers would take fire wood, thinking that

         25  it was an empty lot.  To hear two or three chainsaws

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  was not uncommon although now the sounds of engines

          3  is more common.  ATV's rut our trails along with

          4  motorcycles on a regular basis.  The combined

          5  problem of a dead spot for cell phones and no

          6  enforcement allows for these problems to occur along

          7  with the rapidly disappearing open ground.

          8                 Recently, paintball games are being

          9  organized and played in the park.  On my last park

         10  cleanup with 50 Cub Scouts present in the park and

         11  our outreach coordinator present, we had to break up

         12  a game.  These paint guns shoot a projectile at 300

         13  feet per second.  If you go into the park today, you

         14  will see boundaries taped off and markers for their

         15  games along the horse trails and walking paths and

         16  there is not enough Parks Patrols to stop this. The

         17  NYPD is the only Law Enforcement agency that has

         18  enough staff to help stem our problem.  With the

         19  reports of the problems in parks recorded then

         20  possible funds to hire enough patrols would happen.

         21                 To also help with this problem, we

         22  had five volunteers go to Aux. Training for mounted

         23  patrols in the park at the Police Academy.  They

         24  volunteered their own horses, just needed radios or

         25  a dedicated phone number to reach when they came
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          2  across a situation to report it.  One that would get

          3  a response.  These volunteers were never certified

          4  because no one came to give the final riding test.

          5  Can you afford to lose these free resources? Now

          6  that part of Bloomingdale is a beautiful recreation

          7  area well used by the community, we need to keep the

          8  rest of it sfe for the equestrians, hikers,

          9  naturalists and bird watchers.  Thank you for your

         10  time.

         11  John T. Semich

         12  Board Member

         13  Friends of Bloomingdale.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 3:45 p.m.)
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